REUNITED: EXPLORING THE EFFECTS OF TIE REACTIVATION ON NEWCOMERS' PERFORMANCE IN INTERDEPENDENT ORGANIZATIONS

Author: Massimo Maoret

Persistent link: http://hdl.handle.net/2345/bc-ir:104080

This work is posted on eScholarship@BC, Boston College University Libraries.

Boston College Electronic Thesis or Dissertation, 2013

Copyright is held by the author, with all rights reserved, unless otherwise noted.

Boston College The Carroll School of Management Department of Organization and Management

REUNITED: EXPLORING THE EFFECTS OF TIE REACTIVATION ON

NEWCOMERS' PERFORMANCE IN INTERDEPENDENT

ORGANIZATIONS

a dissertation by

MASSIMO MAORET

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Management

Dissertation committee: Prof. Candace Jones (chair), Prof. Emilio Castilla, Prof. Mohan

Subramaniam

May 2013

© copyright by MASSIMO MAORET 2013

Contents

Dissertation Abstract
Chapter 1: Introduction
Objective of the study: Analyzing Tie Reactivation7
What contributes to making tie reactivation more effective? The role of tie strength, sponsors' networks and demographic similarity
Tie reactivation and newcomers' performance: Managerial relevance
Empirical setting: The National Basketball Association
Potential contributions and structure of the study14
Chapter 2: Exploring the performance effects of newcomers' tie reactivation in interdependent organizations
Social ties reactivation: Information vs. relationship-specific capital
The reactivation of relationship-specific capital: Shared experience as a form of internal social capital
Dyadic memory: How reactivated shared experience can enhance the performance of new organizational members
The positive effects of reactivated shared experience ties on new member socialization 21
The reactivation of relationally embedded ties: Tie strength as a positive moderator of shared experience reactivation on new member performance
Sponsor's relational embeddedness as a moderator on the effect of tie reactivation on new members' performance
The effect of tie decay on shared experience reactivation
Chapter 3: Exploring the moderating role of demographic similarity on the effect of shared
experience reactivation on newcomers' performance

The positive effects of demographic similarity on shared experience reactivation	
The lower impact of shared experience reactivation on new members' performance for	or
demographic groups under value threat	
The moderating impact of numeric proportion in the focal organization on the effect	of shared
experience reactivation between members of a demographic group under value threat	i 43
The moderating impact of relational embeddedness on the effect of shared experience	e
reactivation between members of a demographic group under value threat.	
Chapter 4: Methods	47
Data Sources: The National Basketball Association.	47
Ethnic composition of the National Basketball Association	49
Sample description	50
Dependent variable	51
Independent Variables	52
Control variables	56
Empirical strategy	58
Chapter 5: Statistical Analyses and Results	60
Testing the effects of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance	61
Basic performance effect, and socialization trajectory (H1a and H1b)	61
Testing the moderation effects of tie strength and tie decay	64
Testing the moderation effect of sponsors' relational embeddedness	67
Robustness tests: Multiple tie reactivations	
Exploring the effects of demographic similarity on tie reactivation	73
Testing the effect of demographic similarity	73
Testing the role of value threat, and tie reactivation between members of the discri	minated
group	75

Testing the moderating effect of sponsors' relational embeddedness in the discriminated
group7
Chapter 6: Discussion and Conclusions
Theoretical contributions
Contributions to the socialization literature
Contributions to the social network literature
Managerial contributions
Limitations and conclusions
References
Figures and Tables
Figure 1. Example of tie reactivation between newcomer and sponsor
Figure 2. Expected effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' socialization trajectories 10
Figure 3. Example of the role of sponsors' relational embeddedness
Figure 4. An example of differing time-based effects on tie reactivation
Figure 5. Example of data structure
Figure 6. Predicted effect of multiple tie reactivations
Figure 7. Moderating effect of socialization time on multiple tie reactivations
Table 1. Descriptive statistics. 10
Table 2. Regression analysis of the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance
(NBA efficiency) 10
Table 3. Regression analysis of the moderating role of tie strength and dormancy on the effect
of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency) 10
Table 4. Regression analysis of the moderating role of sponsors' relational embeddedness on
the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency) 10

Table 5. Regression analysis of the effect of multiple tie reactivations on newcomers'
performance (NBA efficiency) 110
Table 6. Regression analysis of the moderating role of demographic similarity on the effect of
tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency) 111
Table 7. Regression analysis of the moderating role of numeric representation of the
discriminated group on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA
efficiency) 112
Table 8. Regression analysis of the moderating role of discriminated sponsors' relational
embeddedness on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)
Table 9. Regression analysis of the moderating role of discriminated sponsors' tenure on the
effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency) 114
Table 10. Regression analysis of the moderating role of discriminated sponsors' relational
embeddedness and tenure on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA
efficiency) 115

Dissertation Abstract

Management scholars have rarely analyzed how prior social networks might help or hinder the job performance of new organizational members. However, internal and external job markets are increasingly characterized by high mobility of experienced professionals, who have extensive social networks rooted in their past collaborations and shared work experiences. Organizations rely more frequently on project teams and project-based organizing to perform interdependent tasks, so employees transition more often across project teams - and firms - in their boundary-less careers. These changes call for a better understanding of whether the reactivation of past social ties is likely to help or hinder the job performance of new employees, especially those engaged in highly interdependent tasks. The object of this study is to theorize and empirically test the mechanisms by which the reactivation of a particular social tie – shared work experience - may impact new members' performance. Using a social networks lens to study new members' organizational entries, this study not only contributes to the recent fastgrowing literature on the reactivation of social ties, but also to studies on new members' performance, and has considerable relevance for enhancing an organization's performance through the better management of its expert workers' human and social capital.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Objective of the study: Analyzing Tie Reactivation

A large body of work in management and sociology supports the view that social networks strongly matter in determining individual attainment. Networks have been shown to have a relevant impact on individual productivity (Castilla 2005), salary (Burt 1997), intra-organizational careers (Podolny and Baron 1997), job seeking (Fernandez and Weinberg 1997), and the likelihood of "making the team" (Reagans, Zuckerman, and McEvily 2004). Whether analyzing relationships that are formal or informal (Fernandez 1991), instrumental or affective (Casciaro and Lobo 2008), position or person-based (Podolny and Baron 1997), the extensive body of scholarly work on social networks "has focused primarily on current ties" (Levin, Walter, and Murnighan 2011:924).

Thus, in recent years, scholars have started to analyze how networks change, looking at the emergence of new ties and the decay of old connections (Burt 2002). Network scholars have traditionally assumed that relationships may decay if not actively maintained (Coleman 1990; Burt 1992), and that the social capital - the set of "resources embedded within, available through, and derived from the network of relationships [...] of social units" (Nahapiet and Ghoshal 1998:243) - and the benefits contained therein - may simply be lost (Burt 1992). Recently, an alternative view has emerged, which posits that social connections may experience life-cycles in which 'active' and 'dormant' phases alternate (Levin, Walter, and Murnighan 2011). This argument is based on the idea that individuals' limited cognitive and physical resources constrain the number of relationships

that can be kept active at any point in time, but researchers have also shown that inactive relationships can still be reactivated and leveraged to provide benefits in the future (Pescosolido 1992; Hurlbert, Haines, and Beggs 2000). The line of work on the reactivation of social ties conceptualizes networks as two-part structures, composed of an opportunity set of potential ties and a secondary subset of active ties (Smith, Menon, and Thompson 2012).

This study extends the literature on tie reactivation by investigating whether a specific type of social tie – shared work experience, or the relational experience accumulated by two colleagues who have worked together before on interdependent tasks (Reagans, Argote, and Brooks 2005) – can be reactivated to provide performance advantages to new organizational members, and sheds additional light on important theoretical gaps that remain unexplored by the tie reactivation literature. Whereas prior researchers have shown that reactivated ties can be efficient conduits for information sharing (Srivastava 2011; Levin, Walter and Murninghan 2011), they have primarily been concerned with how *cognitive* processes affect tie reactivation - i.e. how individuals first *recall* the availability of personal contacts, and then exchange information with them through communicative acts (e.g. phone calls or e-mails). My study will instead focus on a *behavioral* reactivation process – or whether shared work experience can be reactivated when two colleagues re-engage in interdependent behaviors similar to those performed in the social context in which they originally accumulated such experience. When working interdependently, employees engage in relational forms of learning and accumulate shared work experience at the dyadic level, generating tacit rather than codified knowledge

(Reagans et al. 2005; Espinosa et al. 2007). This study explores whether such relationshipspecific capital – which tend to be 'sticky' and idiosyncratic to a specific social setting – can be reactivated and transferred to a different work place, improving the individual performance of the employees involved in the reactivated tie, or whether it simply gets lost when the two co-workers cease their original collaboration.

What contributes to making tie reactivation more effective? The role of tie strength, sponsors' networks and demographic similarity.

In addition to analyzing the effect of shared experience reactivation on newcomers' performance, I also explore which factors might favor or inhibit its effectiveness, helping to clarify the scope conditions that affect tie reactivation. As explained in Chapter 2, the reactivation of shared experience may be greatly helpful in enhancing the social integration of a new organizational member, and consequently her performance. The reactivated contact inside the organization may act as a sponsor for the new employee, providing help in terms of "learning the ropes" - grasping and fully understanding the new set of routines, social norms and behavioral expectations that characterize their new working context. However, several factors can play a crucial role in enhancing or inhibiting such process. In particular, I theorize and test whether relational embeddeness moderates the benefits of such reactivations, extending the current literature by studying the effects of the larger social structure in which the reactivated dyad is embedded. I also consider how time impacts the benefits of shared experience reactivation in two distinctive ways. First, I follow Levin and colleagues (2011) by exploring whether the passage of time hinders the reactivation of past shared experience. In other words, whereas network scholars have studied the effect of decay on 'active' ties, I explore whether the passage of time may make the effects of reactivated ties weaker. Second, I analyze whether reactivated shared experience may also enhance the speed of social integration of new members, allowing them to increase their performance earlier in their organizational life.

The effect of such sponsorship may also be enhanced or reduced depending on whether the two parties involved in the reactivated tie share demographic similarity. The dyadic nature of shared experience (Reagans et al. 2005) is well suited to isolate the effect of race similarity between the two employees involved in the reactivated tie, or whether demographic similarity may inhibit such process. Since new members often have no established networks inside their new organization except for the reactivated tie, focusing on the demographic similarity of the individuals involved in the reactivated dyad will likely isolate the effect of demographic similarity from potential alternative network explanations, allowing for a fine-grained analysis of the effect of race similarity on network benefits. In doing so, I will not only offer an empirical test on whether demographic similarity helps or constraints the effect of networks on individual performance, offering for the first time a test of how demographic similarity interacts with the reactivation of social ties, but I will additionally test how relevant moderators – such as numerical proportion and sponsors' relational embeddedness - can impact the effect of the reactivation of shared experience between members of different demographic groups.

Tie reactivation and newcomers' performance: Managerial relevance.

Studying the effect of shared experience reactivations on newcomers' performance also has important managerial repercussions. The addition of new members to a team or to an organization is arguably one of the most frequent and important events in the context of organizational life, and thus not surprisingly the socialization of new employees' has been a central question in the management field (Van Maanen and Schein 1979). The degree of socialization may dramatically vary across individuals, generating great variance in new members' performance, and understanding what factors determines why "some newcomers...[are]...placed upon a path to termination whereas other newcomers...[are]...placed on a path to organizational socialization" (Cashman et al. 1976:286) has deep and fundamental implications for organizations. Whereas multiple factors can determine the degree to which newcomers get socialized more quickly into a new social setting – for instance, psychological factors (Chen 2005), team level expectations (Chen 2005), and organizational tactics (Van Maanen and Schein 1979) – the literature has yet to examine whether social networks may inhibit or help newcomers' successful integration into a new work setting, and hence their performance. With the notable exception of Castilla (2005), the current literature on newcomers' performance has predominately assumed the newcomer as an atomistic, isolated element, who enters the new social setting in complete isolation. However, this assumption might not be true. In fact, new employees may have shared relationships in the past with one or more of his or her new colleagues – in particular, they might have been co-workers in a different

organization, or worked together on a common project in the past. Such relationships could be extremely important to facilitate newcomers' integration – but both the literatures on newcomers' performance and on social networks have yet to explore under which conditions the reactivation of these past work ties may help or hinder newcomers' performance.

The analysis of how the reactivation of shared work experience may impact new members' performance is made more relevant by the fact that current labor markets – both internal and external to organizations – have been characterized by increasingly high degrees of employee mobility (O'Mahony and Bechky 2006). Since organizations rely more frequently on project teams (Hinds and Bailey 2003; O'Leary and Mortensen 2010) and project-based organizing (Maoret, Massa, and Jones 2011) to perform interdependent tasks, employees transition more often across teams and firms (Granovetter 1983) in their boundary-less careers (Arthur and Rousseau 2001). In contrast to the focus of early organizational scholars - who analyzed labor markets characterized by relatively low mobility and actors who are independent, atomistic agents and often entering their very first job (e.g. Louis, Posner, and Powell 1983) - current new employees are not necessarily inexperienced workers, but may be highly trained professionals with wide-ranging job experience and prior social networks, and often have extensive sets of past work relationships (Somaya, Williamson, and Lorinkova 2008). Thus a new employee may have worked in the past with one or more of their new colleagues on a common project, and probably for a different organization. The reactivation of such past shared experience could be extremely important in facilitating both the social integration and the job

performance of such a new member. Thus, given the frequency of employees' transitions across organizational boundaries, it becomes imperative for organizations to facilitate an effective and quick integration of newcomers, which would lead to higher employee productivity, reducing at the same time turnover and the extremely relevant associated replacement costs (Bauer, Morrison and Callister 1997; Chen and Klimoski 2003).

Empirical setting: The National Basketball Association.

I plan on testing my hypotheses applying regression analysis on longitudinal data on basketball team membership and player individual performance. Using sport as a context for research provides scholars with several advantages, such as accurately measured data, transparency of strategy and processes, and a relatively controlled environment where all teams compete using the same rules and vying for the same goals (Wolfe et al. 2005). In particular, basketball teams are interdependent and tightly coupled systems. Many organizational teams closely resemble these systems, especially those in fast changing environments which require very frequent and close interaction among team members: good examples are consulting firms, creative advertising agencies, and crossfunctional teams in general.

My sample includes data from the National Basketball Association (NBA), including game-by-game data from 1985 to 2011. I will focus on the 5,866 instances in which a player joins a new team – since each of these players joined on average 2.91 teams in the course of his career, I will be able to analyze multiple organizational transitions for each individual. Moreover, given that an NBA season includes 82 games, the analysis of game-level performance will allow me to study the evolution of individual performance within seasons, effectively accounting for the effect of socialization, yielding a sample of 225,307 player-game observations.

Potential contributions and structure of the study.

This study will provide important contribution both to theory and practice. Theoretically, I will contribute to both the literature on social ties reactivation and newcomers' performance. So far, the literature on tie reactivation has described how social connections can switch between active or inactive (dormant) phases, and how reconnecting has profound informational advantages. Individuals can leverage dormant ties to acquire information that would not be available otherwise. However, these studies have yet to explore whether reactivation can have an effect also on the work place, in particular fostering new employees' performance. Moreover, I will also extend such literature by specifying which characteristics of the original relationship may positively and negatively moderate the effect of its reactivation on newcomers' performance. Furthermore, I will contribute to the literature on newcomers' performance by providing one of the few longitudinal tests of new members' productivity that uses an objective measure, showing how pre-existing social networks can have a deep impact on newcomers' socialization. Moreover, my data panel will allow me to analyze employees' transitioning across multiple organizations, overcoming a current limitation of the socialization literature, which tends to focus to studies of a single collective.

I will structure the rest of this document as follows. In chapter 2, I will review the current literature on network reactivation, and then introduce the type of social tie that will be the focus of this study – shared work experience. I will therefore theorize the fundamental mechanisms that will explain why the reactivation of shared experience may have a positive impact on newcomers' performance. I will then theorize the factors that may moderate the relationship between tie reactivation and performance. In particular, I will focus on three aspects: tie strength, the sponsors' relational embeddedness and the process of tie decay.

Chapter 3 will then be focused on investigating the role played by individuals' characteristics on tie reactivation. In particular, I will consider race homophily a factor that may foster or undermine social ties reactivation. The characteristics of my data sample will allow me to study, for the first time, whether homophily in race may have an effect on shared experience reactivation, and ultimately on newcomers' performance.

My methodological approach and data description will be illustrated in chapter 4. I will empirically test the hypotheses developed in my previous three chapters using a longitudinal dataset on players' membership and performance in National Basketball Association (NBA) from 1985 to 2011. I will provide extensive description of the variables used to capture my theoretical constructs, and explain the added benefits of using sports data to test the theory developed in this study.

Finally, I will illustrate my findings in Chapter 5, and provide the discussion of my findings and the concluding remarks in Chapter 6.

Chapter 2: Exploring the performance effects of newcomers' tie reactivation in interdependent organizations.

Social ties reactivation: Information vs. relationship-specific capital.

Social networks scholars interpret the nature of social ties in two distinctive ways either as conduits of information or as sources of relationship-specific capital (Nahapiet and Ghoshal 1998). The former view focuses fundamentally on which structural positions maximize the transmission of valuable (i.e. non-redundant) information (e.g. Burt 1992), the latter is concerned with the question of how relationship-specific capital – e.g. tacit knowledge, trust, interdependent routines and heuristics – generate higher performance (e.g. Krackhardt 1992; Reagans et al. 2005).

The recent growing literature on social tie reactivation – which studies how such ties alternate between dormant and active phases – has primarily considered the interpretation of networks as information conduits, and so analyzed how such reactivated ties can enable communicative acts which can provide informational advantages, often under the pressure of environmental uncertainty. For instance, Srivastava (2011) has shown how top managers reactivate old connections, extending the range of their intraorganizational network across departments, when their firm undergoes significant internal restructuring, to counter the uncertainty generated by such structural overhaul. Smith and colleagues (2012) have observed a similar mechanism in the process of job search: individuals seeking new jobs reactivate old contacts in search of information about potential work opportunities. These dormant contacts have proven to be extremely valid and efficient sources of information due to their shared perspective, to the extent that reconnected ties may be as beneficial as current ones. In their study, Levin, Walter and Murnighan (2011) asked executives to revive connections that had been dormant for several years and to rate their benefits. Their findings show, although strong dormant ties showed some evidence of decay, that levels of shared perspective and trust between the executives were comparable to those in current strong ties and - most importantly reconnected ties were efficient in conveying relevant information about work-related projects. Nevertheless, while reactivated dormant ties have proven to be efficient conduits of information, it remains to be seen whether the relationship-specific capital such ties contain can produce higher performance when they are reactivated. The object of this study is thus to clarify under which conditions a specific type of social tie – shared work experience – can be reactivated to benefit the performance of interdependent tasks.

The reactivation of relationship-specific capital: Shared experience as a form of internal social capital.

Recent studies have highlighted the existence and the relevance of social ties that embed a relationship-specific form of capital – shared work experience. When a group of employees work together on an interdependent task, they not only become more familiar with the task itself and with the team they work for, but also accumulate experience relationally (Reagans, Argote, and Brooks 2005; Espinosa et al. 2007). By working together, co-workers accumulate valuable experience that is relationship-specific, rather than located in a the generic, distributed "collective mind", as has been originally theorized by Weick and Roberts (1993).

Such shared experience has proved extremely beneficial for team and organizational performance, as it leads to the development of shared norms, common language, and trust (Eisenhardt and Schoonhoven 1990), which increases the likelihood of standardization of practices and cooperative behaviors (Leana and Buren 1999; Jones, Hesterly, and Borgatti 1997), both of which will positively affect coordination and performance (Taylor and Greve 2006). These beneficial effects have been found in multiple contexts. For instance, Reagans and his colleagues (2005) found that shared experience reduced completion time in surgical teams via the improved division of labor and coordination which comes from knowing "who knows what" (Wegner 1987), and studying software development teams, Espinosa and his colleagues (2007) found that common experience among team members positively impacted performance because "the coordination complexity experienced by team members when working with other members is reduced when they are familiar with each other" (2007:615).

Shared experience is a form of social capital under Nahapiet and Ghoshal's (1998) general definition of social capital as being the set of "resources embedded within, available through, and derived from the network of relationships [...] of social units". In particular, I argue that it is a form of *internal* social capital, i.e. accumulated within a specific social context. Social capital has been generally theorized in the literature as being either 'internal' or 'external' to a given collective, which may be a specific team, department, business unit or organization (Adler and Kwon 2002; Payne et al. 2011).

Whereas external social capital maps on to the actors' structural position within a network as defined - for instance - by Burt (1992), internal social capital accumulates inside a specific collective, "as strong recursive bonds developed between actors who interact frequently" (Payne et al., 2011: 494).

The 'internal' nature of shared work experience poses a fundamental puzzle related to the possibility of its reactivation. Since this form of social capital is embedded and built into the dyads forming the underlying social structure of a specific collective, it is a very valuable resource for the organization due to it tacitness and social complexity (Coff 1997). However, since internal social capital is a resource idiosyncratic to a specific set of individuals (Barney 1996; Coff 1997), a logical consequence is that the benefits of shared experience will simply disappear when their social ties are severed. Thus, it is not surprising that the current literature suggests that "the internal social capital shared with coworkers … may simply be lost" in such cases (Somaya et al. 2008, p.940), and that "long-term performance consequences … may be attributable to…the accumulated social capital lost through voluntary turnover" (Dess and Shaw, 2001: 449).

Dyadic memory: How reactivated shared experience can enhance the performance of new organizational members.

Whereas the loss of social capital by the focal organization may be inevitable when ties are broken, the relation-specificity of shared work experience suggest that its benefits may be renewable for the two individuals originally involved in such a connection. Figure 1 illustrates the process through which the shared experience between two employees is reactivated in a different context. Employees A and B (top left of the figure) are connected by a shared experience tie from when they originally (at *t-2*) worked together at organization Alpha. By extensively working together in the past, they accumulated relationship-specific capital: shared experience developed during the repetition of interdependent tasks which fosters the "development of relationships-specific heuristics that enhance how well people…interact with each other" (Reagans et al. 2005:872). These heuristics are part of an efficient and tacit understanding of how the two individuals work together, and are deeply engrained in the relationship-specific social capital, constituting a form of tacit knowledge. Such capital enhances how efficiently A and B perform their interdependent tasks, so giving A a direct performance advantage.

INSERT FIGURE 1 HERE

Such advantages may disappear when employee B moves from organization Alpha to Beta at *t*-1 (as the Figure shows) and their collaboration is interrupted. B is now an isolate node in the Beta network, since she has (as yet) no shared experience with their new colleagues. Thus, we might expect that (ceteris paribus) B's performance will suffer in the new social context as compared to in their previous organization Alpha, due to the lack of relationship-specific capital originally developed with her past colleague(s). Shared experience accumulates through task repetition, and it will take time for B to re-create a network of shared experience in her new work context.

This challenge is less problematic for A, when she moves to organization Beta at time *t*. Thanks to their past shared experience with B during their tenure at Alpha, A is not

an isolated node in their new network, but instead can begin to reactivate and leverage part of the benefits specific to their past relationship with B. In other words, A and B can reactivate the relationship-specific capital – efficient routines, heuristics, and trustworthiness – engrained in their past collaboration. Such benefits do not simply disappear when the original tie de-activates, but rather become dormant: a form of "network memory" ready to be re-enacted (Soda, Usai, and Zaheer 2004). The reactivation process is akin to the process known as 'muscle memory' by physical trainers; an extensive task repetition that allows for the formation of routines that makes the performance of collaborative tasks almost automatic and easy to recall. Internal social capital built through extensive past interaction has been shown to have long-term repercussions, "cast[ing] a long shadow into the present" (Soda et al. 2004) – so we can expect A's job performance as a new member of Beta to be higher when carrying out interdependent tasks in collaboration with B.

The positive effects of reactivated shared experience ties on new member socialization.

The positive effects of reactivated shared experience ties on new members' performance are not strictly limited to the specific situations in which the new member works interdependently with a reactivated past contact, but can also facilitate faster socialization of the new member, thus increasing their individual performance in general.

Research on new employees' socialization has found that the degree of speed of socialization of new members may vary dramatically across individuals, generating great

variance in their performance. Established organizations have distinctive sets of embedded social norms, normative expectations or roles, and institutionalized routines used to perform their tasks, so, when new members join such social settings, they are likely to experience a profound disconnect between their expectations (built on their past experience elsewhere) and the social norms that operate in their new context. Such norms can often be so novel and different to what they are used to that researchers have described this situation as producing a 'reality shock', as "[new members'] entire organizationally-based physical and social world are changed" (Louis 1980). It is important to note that it is not only inexperienced workers who face these pressures, but also experienced employees who "join a new team, even within the same organization", since every team and/or organization has idiosyncratic work procedures that determine, for instance, how they interact with clients and teammates, or how to use new technologies (Chen 2005:103).

New organizational members need to make sense of their new social worlds quickly, leveraging the available information and social cues, in order to match the performance expectations placed on them. Whereas multiple factors can determine how quickly new members become socialized into a new social setting – for instance psychological factors (Chen 2005), team level expectations (Chen 2005), and organizational tactics (Van Maanen and Schein 1979) – the socialization and social networks literatures have yet to examine whether the reactivation of prior social ties may enhance the speed and the degree of new members' integration into new work settings, which then influence their performance.

Comparing the transitions of A and B to organization Beta (Figure 1) may help to

clarify how the presence of a reactivated social tie in the new organization can provide distinct advantages for newcomers' socialization. After transitioning to their new organization, B's lack of shared experience ties with Beta's established workers ('oldtimers') means she can face a 'liability of foreignness', or the risk of being marginalized or stereotyped by old-timers (Perretti and Negro 2006). B's position is particularly critical early in their socialization period, as old-timers' initial expectations and evaluations are not only one of the "key force[s] during socialization" (Jackson, Stone, and Alvarez 1993:60), but are also "particularly important *early* in a newcomer's socialization." (Chen 2005:104). In comparison to B's transition, A's organizational entry is facilitated by their ability to reactivate their tie with B, which can help them become socialized more quickly by bridging the information and social gap between the newcomer and the incumbents. The past experience and trust embedded in the past tie may help the newcomer to break this social barrier and achieve effective communication with the old-timers, and thus aligning the shared expectations of the team to the newcomers' actual behavior more quickly. The internal contact can vouch for the new person, providing detailed, fine-grained information about them, which is particularly critical, as initial expectations tend to be highly malleable (Chen 2005) and making it easier for the old-timers to accept the newcomer as part of their social group. Thus a reactivated tie makes it more likely for her to improve her performance more quickly during the initial socialization phase.

The reactivated connection can also help the new member to navigate her new environment more easily. New employees often face a feeling of "information deprivation" (Jablin 1987:622), and need to leverage as many information sources as they can to cope with their sense of strangeness in their new environment (Miller and Jablin 1991). In such situations, a reactivated social tie can be of great help, as the relationship-specific capital embedded in a shared experience tie may make the internal contact a reliable and easy to access source of detailed information, as a target of direct, overt questions about the new context, which have been argued as greatly helping newcomers' integration (Miller and Jablin, 1991). A trusted contact is particularly important. New members tend to be extremely aware of the social costs associated with their requests, which may have negative consequences such as inhibiting newcomers from asking for information they are expected to know, annoying old-timers and generating social disapproval (Miller and Jablin, 1991).

The reactivated tie may not simply be a channel for general, publicly-available information about the new job, but also about context-specific norms and tacit knowledge that would be otherwise hard for the new member to grasp quickly, and which can often be a barrier to achieving successful integration. The reactivated internal contact may be able to provide a detailed view of the idiosyncrasies of the organizational and of new colleagues, giving the new member a "realistic job preview", which "functions very much like a medical vaccination in its attempt to deflate newcomer expectations...by presenting job candidates with a small dose of 'organizational reality'" (Popovich and Wanous 1982:571). For instance, new members often lack the ability to decode the information they gain, due to a lack of a "context-specific dictionary" (Jablin 1987). Thus, by reactivating past shared experience, the internal contact can help the new member to

interpret what they experience such as distinguishing nuances within apparently clear rules, learning the intricacies of the informal networks acting as a role-model for the new member that provides "social enrichment" (Fernandez, Castilla, and Moore 2000; Castilla 2005) through closer 'on-the-job' training and mentoring.

The expected consequences of the performance benefits provided by a reactivated shared experience tie during the socialization period are graphically displayed in Figure 2, which compares the performance patterns of a new organizational member with a reactivated tie (dashed line) to a new member who is an isolated node (in Figure 1, their network positions are exemplified by A and B, respectively). In both cases, we expect A's performance to improve during her socialization period, as they learn more about their new social environment and tasks. The rate of this improvement will marginally decrease over time – past research has portrayed socialization as an adaptation process (Chan & Schmitt, 2000) characterized by negative acceleration where "performance change is likely to be more dynamic early in a period of socialization, when newcomers must learn how to match their behavior to the demands posed by their new work environment" (Chen 2005:103). A consequence of this initial dynamism is that we expect the effect of the reactivated tie to be stronger earlier during the socialization period hence, the dashed line in Figure 2 (which represents the performance pattern for the new member with a reactivated tie) is characterized by a steeper marginal increase earlier on. If we couple this process with the fact that the earlier socialization phase has long term repercussions on new members' performance, due to its "imprinting" nature (Jackson et al., 1993), I expect the benefits derived from tie reactivation to yield performance advantages

to new members in such situations, and that such advantage will be stronger earlier in the socialization period, i.e. immediately after they join their new team or organization. Thus:

H1a: A new organizational member reactivating a past shared experience tie with a current organizational member will achieve better individual performance than one without such reconnection.

H1b: This reactivation effect will be stronger earlier in the socialization period.

INSERT FIGURE 2 HERE

The reactivation of relationally embedded ties: Tie strength as a positive moderator of shared experience reactivation on new member performance.

Several factors can moderate the positive benefits of reactivated shared experience on new member performance. Granovetter's distinction between strong and weak ties seems to be particularly important when evaluating the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance. Strong ties have been characterized by trust (Krackhardt 1992) and shared perspective (Nahapiet and Ghoshal, 1998), making it more likely for the connected parties to cooperate effectively with each other (Granovetter 1983; Reagans and McEvily 2003) Individuals connected by strong ties "forge a common set of goals, values, language and understanding…preventing misinterpretation and misunderstanding" (Levin et al, 2011:925). We might expect new members may benefit even more from the reactivation of past strong ties, since the deeper levels of trust embedded in such ties may

make the social enrichment process more effective, and make such colleagues more willing to help one another (Reagans and McEvily, 2003). "Strong ties have greater motivation to be of assistance and are typically more easily available" (Granovetter 1982:113) which tends to be even more important when individuals are facing uncertain situations such as organizational entry (Jones 1986). Indeed, strong ties foster "inclusion, cohesiveness and group identity...[and]...facilitate socialization by reducing individuality and individual power." (Sparrowe and Liden 1997:530). Thus, new members reactivating strong ties with organizational incumbents are more likely to rely on such connection to gather relevant information, seek help, and achieve social integration sooner (Higgins and Kram 2001). The more two employees shared relevant work experience in the past, the stronger their bond will be because tie strength grows with close interactions over extended periods of time and increases the trust between the two parties (Krackhardt 1992). The high level of trustworthiness embedded in strong ties will make it more likely that the reactivated connection becomes an active sponsor of the new member, as well as more eager to help the new employee to learn the intricacies of the new environment, facilitating their faster and more complete "assimilation" (Sparrowe and Liden 1997, 2005). Thus, I expect that:

H2: Tie strength will positively moderate the relationship between shared experience reactivation and new member performance.

Sponsor's relational embeddedness as a moderator on the effect of tie reactivation on new members' performance.

The tie strength of the reactivated connection between the new member and the insider is not the only relational factor that can determine the quality of the new member's integration: the relational embeddedness of the new member's *sponsor* – i.e., of the internal contact with whom the reactivated tie is shared – can also moderate the effectiveness of tie reactivation on new members' performance. Figure 3 illustrates the importance of the sponsor's network position, comparing two settings where two new employees new to an organization (A and C) reconnect a past shared experience ties with B and D, respectively. The distinction between the two cases lies in the embeddedness of the reactivated sponsor –D's network position in Delta is characterized by stronger ties than is C's.

INSERT FIGURE 3 HERE

In order to understand why D's greater embeddedness has a positive effect on the reactivated C-D tie - and thus on the performance of the new member - it is important to highlight that it may take time for old-timers to accept a new individual as a taken-for-granted member of the organization. While the presence of a sponsor may certainly help, the new employee may still be considered a "stranger" (Simmel 1950) and remain suspect and disadvantaged in the eyes of the organizational incumbents (Sparrowe and Liden 2005), at least until they are able to prove themselves to be trustworthy to their

new colleagues. Social network scholars have found that, without such acceptance, new members are unable to reap the benefits of social networks (Burt 1992), which hurts their performance. In his analysis of managers' individual attainment, Burt (1992, 1998) has shown that individuals who are not legitimate in the eyes of organizational incumbents are not able to gain positive benefits from their social networks. It is interesting to note that this finding does not relate to new members lack of experience - as Burt's analysis focused on highly experienced top managers of a large, Fortune 100 company - but rather to them lacking trustworthiness in the eyes of incumbents. Gaining colleagues' trust can be very time-consuming, potentially hurting new employees' productivity during the initial socialization period.

However new members can offset their initial lack of trustworthiness by 'borrowing' social capital from an internal contact. As Sparrowe and Liden explain, "borrowing the social capital of well-connected sponsors overcomes shortfalls in legitimacy by endorsing an individual's participation in the inner circles of players" (2005:512). Thus a new member who reactivates a connection with an incumbent can potentially leverage the sponsor's position in the network to facilitate their social integration (Burt 1992). Since "[old-timers] develop trustworthiness through sharing trust relationships with others" (Sparrowe and Liden 2005:512), the internal contact can effectively channel trust towards the new employee by endorsing them, as long as they share strong, trusted ties with that colleague. Network scholars call this mechanism "trust transferability" (McEvily, Perrone, and Zaheer 2003; Ferrin, Dirks, and Shah 2006), noting that it works because "trust in the [incumbent's] judgment serves as the foundation

for trust in an unknown counterpart". Hence, old-timers who acts as a sponsor for a new member transfer trust from themselves to the latter. For this mechanism to work, though, the sponsor must be 'well-connected' with the other old-timers via strong ties, which are characterized by trust (Krackhardt 1992). So we can expect that the stronger the ties between the sponsor and other incumbents, the more the new member will be able to 'borrow' the sponsor's social capital; this facilitates the transfer of trust from the sponsor to themselves (Sparrowe and Liden 1997, 2005), easies their acceptance into their new setting and consequently improves their performance. Therefore:

H3: The sponsor's relational embeddedness will positively moderate the effect of the reactivation of a shared experience tie on a new member's performance.

The effect of tie decay on shared experience reactivation.

Time may also have a significant effect on shared experience reactivation, but empirical investigations of the contingency effects of time on network effects have generally been extremely limited (Burt 2000; Soda et al. 2004). Network scholars assume that active ties, if not maintained, erode over time (Coleman, 1990; Burt, 1992). For example, Burt (2002) has observed that ties that bridge separate parts of social networks tend to decay very quickly. Mariotti and Delbridge (2011) suggest that dormant ties may simply decay, when not reactivated after a long period. In the same way, we might expect that the effects triggered by tie reactivation would become weaker over time, more difficult, or even impossible. Thus:

H4a: The length of the dormancy period negatively moderates the effect of shared

experience reactivation on the newcomer's performance.

Although we might expect that the longer the dormancy period, the less effective the reactivation process will be, certain characteristics of the dormant tie may affect the rate of its decay. This implies that not all ties decay at the same rate, but that certain connections can stay dormant for longer periods. Levin and colleagues (2011) suggested that tie strength may have a positive effect on the rate of dormant tie decay. Likening strong ties to lasting first impressions, they suggest that the higher level of trust originally embedded in the strong tie would help two individuals to reconnect more easily, even to the point of creating a "permanent connection that time apart, on its own, cannot undo." (p.926) By finding that reconnected strong ties as beneficial as current ones, the authors suggest that strong ties do not seem to suffer from decay (in contrast to what earlier literature had suggested); however, their tests do not account for the actual length of the tie's dormancy period. Especially given that the form of internal social capital studied here - shared experience - is one in which the benefits are grounded on the daily interconnected routine activities of social actors, we might expect that the passage of time would erode the common trust, communication codes and efficiency in routine set embedded in the relationship. As Burt puts it, internal social capital may "die of natural causes unless an effort is made" (2002:347). In sum, although we might expect the reactivation of shared experience to be hindered by the passage of time, we can also posit that stronger ties may decay at a slower rate. Thus:

H4b: Tie strength negatively moderates the effect of the length of the dormancy period on diminishing shared experience reactivation.

Chapter 3: Exploring the moderating role of demographic similarity on the effect of shared experience reactivation on newcomers' performance

Do employees help or hinder the integration and the performance of new organizational members who are demographically similar to them? Despite the importance of this question, which may generate a deeper theoretical understanding of workplace dynamics and empirically ground effective policies to reduce workers' discrimination, answers to such inquiry have generally been assumed rather than empirically explored (Duguid, Loyd, and Tolbert 2010). As observed by Duguid and colleagues, the common and general supposition is that employees "serve as advocates for demographically similar others" (2010:1). Even if such assumption is reasonable and consistent with prior research, definitive empirical answers have rarely been given. The few empirical studies that have focused on demographic similarity have mainly focused on the evaluation of potential interviewees, showing contradictory results (e.g. Graves and Powell 1996; Goldberg 2005; Jost 2001). For instance, in the context of interviewing job applicants, Graves and Powell (1996) have found that, ceteris paribus, female interviewers rate more favorably female candidates – but at the same time, in a similar context, Sacco, Scheu, Ryan, and Schmitt (2003) have found no significant effects either for race or gender similarity. In opposition, Goldberg (2005) has demonstrated a preference for interviewees of the *opposite* sex, providing even further doubts surrounding the effects of demographic similarity.

This empirical conundrum seems to suggest not only that more empirical analysis on this issue are warranted, but that important moderating effects may be at play and have a profound effect on the mechanisms that link demographic similarity to the individual performance of new employees. Hence, the objective of this chapter is to find whether demographic similarity amplifies or reduces the positive effect of shared experience reactivation on new members' performance – a mechanism introduced and theorized in Chapter 2 - and whether different effects may be expected for members of discriminated groups. Understanding whether employees help demographically similar others to achieve higher individual performance carries great relevance for policy-making on top of its theoretical importance. In fact, such question may be central to the understanding of the mechanisms that keep discriminated groups out of the most prestigious occupations, and in particular of their ability to use networks to their advantage. Indeed, despite a relative scarcity of studies in the area, social network scholars have empirically found that network benefits may deeply differ for gender and racial minorities. For instance, Burt (1992, 1998) has shown that whereas males enjoy better salaries and quicker promotions when placed in favorable network positions, the opposite applies for their female colleagues, who are not able to extract the same benefits from the social structure. Similarly, Ibarra (1995) showed that networks are less functional in terms of career progression for managers belonging to racial minorities than for their white counterparts, and that women receive lower network returns than men on their central network positions (Ibarra 1992). The common explanation behind these findings is built upon two overlapping processes. First, networks are bound by structural constraints. In other words, non-discriminated members usually dominate organizational networks both in terms of quantity (i.e. sheer numbers) and quality (i.e. hierarchy). The second process is

social homophily, i.e. the tendency of individuals to form strong connections with similar others. Put together, these two processes offer a plausible explanation as to why women and members of racial minorities struggle to reap network benefits: homophily reinforces differences in network positions, and therefore the benefits associated with them (Ibarra 1992). The solution proposed by scholars and policy makers is to spur diversity and increase the representation of discriminated groups in organizations by purposively recruiting their members in organizations' upper echelons (Ely 1994; Ibarra 1995). In this way, discriminated members would be able to find a higher number of demographically similar others, which would in turn reduce the structural constraints faced by new members, helping them to reduce the obstacles they face in advancing their careers. However, this solution would be favorable only to the extent that individuals belonging to discriminated social categories would actually help each other. Thus, studying whether this assumption holds is fundamental to understand whether such policy would actually be useful to reduce workplace discrimination.

The positive effects of demographic similarity on shared experience reactivation.

There are strong reasons to believe that, generally speaking, individuals in organizations may have a preference to advocate for their demographically similar new colleagues. The strongest evidence is put forward by the similarity-attraction theory originally proposed by Byrne (1971), which posits that in general individuals have a preference for interacting with others who share their values and beliefs. Without fine-
grained information about personal attitudes, individuals often use available demographic characteristics (e.g. gender, race) to approximate the underlying values. Based on this premise, multiple studies have found strong evidence for social homophily, a mechanism that predicts that individuals tend to form relations with those who are similar to them. Homophily seems to have a strong impact on a wide array of social relationships, as individuals tend to create strong bonds with similar others ranging from marriage, to friendship, to work relationships (McPherson, Smith-Lovin, and Cook 2001). These tendencies may actually be explained by two separate homophily processes (McPherson and Smith-Lovin 1987). Induced homophily refers to homophily created by the demographical distribution across social groups. For instance, in a completely homogeneous group, individuals will form ties with similar others simply because they have no other alternative. A second type of homophily – *choice* homophily - is instead based on individuals' preferences. In such case, individuals will form relationships with others sharing their characteristics for a specific individual choice. I will focus on the latter form of homophily as the key mechanism for expecting a positive effect of similarity.

Dyadic relationships with similar others has been theorized to be beneficial for individuals in the work place, one reason being the existence of categorical biases among peers and supervisors. For instance, among others, Stauffer and Buckley (2005) have shown the relevance of racial bias in supervisory ratings. Whereas the two scholars could not discern whether such bias was an outcome of conscious or subconscious discrimination, their analysis highlighted that both black and white supervisors rate their

racially similar workers more highly. However, other reasons other than categorical bias have been theorized to influence positively ties between similar others. According to Ibarra (1993), "interpersonal similarity increases ease of communication, improves predictability of behavior, and fosters relationships of trust and reciprocity." (p. 61). This also facilitates the creation of informal ties between demographically similar others (Lincoln and Jon Miller 1979; Tsui and O'Reilly 1989), which forms the basis through which employees find support during their work. In particular, research on mentorship has found that ties between similar others create better mentor-protégé' relationships. Racial differences have proven to be an obstacle in the identification between white superiors and black workers (Thomas 1993), and similarly differences in gender may be an obstacle for women to create and enjoy mentorship with men, due to stereotypes and norms regarding cross-gender relationships (Noe 1988). Students of relational demography posed additional attention to the effect of demography diversity on networks, specifically focusing on the demographic difference in dyads. In their seminal study, Tsui and O'Reilly (1989) moved the level of analysis from the overall distribution of demographic characteristics of the focal collective to the demographic similarity between supervisors and subordinates, thus concentrating their analysis at the dyadic level. They found evidence for lower levels of job performance and higher levels of role ambiguity the higher the demographic difference between superiors and subordinates, in particular for cross-gender dyads. In a subsequent study, Tsui, Egan and O'Reilly (1992) again found evidence for a positive effect of homophily on organizational attachment – in comparison to her organizational unit, the greater the demographic difference between an

employee, the lower the resulting organizational attachment. In sum, previous studies have proposed that demographic similarity is associated with higher effectiveness (Tsui and O'Reilly 1989) and higher levels of social support (Ibarra 1992; South et al. 1982).

For these reasons, thus, we might expect that the effect of reactivated shared experience on new organizational members' performance to positively interact with demographic similarity. As illustrated in Chapter 2, when joining a new organizational setting, employees often face a "reality shock" due to the extreme disconnect between their expectations and the need of quickly grasping a new set of work routines, social norms and the lack of work experience with their new colleagues. New members need to quickly bridge such gaps in order to be accepted as valued contributors in their new work setting, and such process may require some time as the expectations of the incumbents may be very different from those of the new members. In such cases, the reactivation of prior work experience may be of great help. The reactivated contact inside the organization can leverage his or her knowledge of the new members' skills, traits and attitudes, brokering such information to other group members, and thus enabling the new employee to be socialized more quickly into the new work context. The internal contact can also become a role-model and a mentor for the new member, a learning process known as "social enrichment" (Castilla 2005). So whereas I expect shared experience reactivation to positively influence the performance of a new organizational member, I also suggest that such process should be even stronger when triggered between demographically similar others, as according to the aforementioned research on demographic similarity I expect similar others to share a stronger sense of trust,

reciprocity, identification and easiness of communication (Ibarra 1993, Thomas 1993). Demographically similar others are more motivated to reciprocally offer help, increasing social support for the new member in her new environment (Ibarra 1992) and thus generating higher levels of effectiveness (Tsui and O'Reilly 1989). For these reasons, we might expect reactivated shared experience among demographically similar individuals to have an even stronger effect on new members performance.

H5: Demographic similarity will amplify the effect of reactivated shared experience on new members' performance.

The lower impact of shared experience reactivation on new members' performance for demographic groups under value threat.

Whereas some past studies have highlighted the positive effects that demographic similarity has on individual performance, not all empirical analyses present in the literature support this view. For instance, a study by Jost (2001) has found evidence for a negative effect of demographic similarity, and others have found no empirical support for the relationship in either direction (Sacco et al. 2003). These mixed results may hint at the fact that the similarity-attraction paradigm, although perhaps valid in many contexts, may be conditional upon contextual and specific relational factors.

In particular, researchers point at the fact that members of specific demographic groups may be less willing to offer their support and advocate for demographically similar others. For instance, in the context of law firms, Ely (1994) found that women do not necessarily support other women. This is especially true in firms whose upper echelons were numerically dominated by males – in these contexts, women were less likely to identify with other senior women, to use their same-gender senior as rolemodels, and in general they perceive relations with other female colleagues as more competitive. A similar result was observed by Smith (2005) in her analysis of social capital activation among African-American urban poor. In her study a strikingly 81% of African-American potential job referrers were not willing to help demographically similar members to find a job. Such strong result seems to openly contradict the similarity-attraction paradigm, as respondents showed to be highly concerned of whether supporting a demographically similar other might affect their reputation on the job.

Duguid, Loyd and Tolbert (2010) offered a theoretical framework that may help to reconcile these counterintuitive results. They suggest that members of a demographic group may be more or less inclined to help their demographically similar others contingently upon their experience of "value threat". According to Duguid and colleagues, "value threat occurs when an individual sees himself as a potentially valuable member but perceives that others will not see him in this way" (p. 3). Thus, value threat is not caused by internal self-appraisal, but rather is a "response to perceived external appraisals" (p.3). In other words, members of a demographic group are under value threat when they perceive third parties to question their value as workers *for the specific reason of being members of their demographic group*.

The perception of value threat is context-specific. This implies that the same demographic group – for instance, women – may perceive different levels of value threat

in different professions. Duguid and colleagues (2010) identify three factors that raise the level of value threat in a given context: the presence of discriminatory beliefs, low overall numerical representation in the profession and high level of occupational prestige.

In many contexts diffuse and widespread *discriminatory beliefs* link specific observable demographic characteristics - e.g. gender or race - to specific individual abilities. These beliefs act as stereotypes, for example associating being female to the ability to perform a specific task better or worse, or to specific behavioral tendencies. It is important to note that these stereotypes are tied to specific occupations, and therefore members of a specific group associated to a demographic characteristic may be more or less discriminated in different professions. For instance, under the stereotype that women are physically weaker than men, women are more likely to perceive value threat in physically intensive jobs. Such general beliefs lower the status of a specific demographic category, discriminating between different demographical groups, and automatically placing members of discriminated groups at an initial status disadvantage (Ridgeway and Walker 1995). These stereotypes generate performance expectations not only for third parties, but also for the members of the low status categories themselves, which thus may experience higher pressure to perform and in general higher value threat, as they may face additional obstacles to prove to be worthwhile members of their collectives.

Discriminatory beliefs are even more powerful in contexts where the associated demographic group is represented in low numbers (Duguid et al. 2010). When a group tied to a demographic characteristic is present in small numbers in any given profession it may be perceived simply as being not apt to carry out the required tasks – in other words,

the small numerical representation itself may act as a discriminatory signal (Ridgeway 1988). For instance, we might expect women to perceive more value threat in professions where there are an overall smaller number of women. The imbalance in the distribution of a demographic characteristic may make it an even more salient attribute used to classify and evaluate (Cohen and Swim 1995), and thus amplify the stereotyping effects of the discriminatory beliefs associated with the group. In other words, "numeric minorities may be more prone to assume that others will call into question their value to the group" (Duguid et al. 2010:5)

Third, discriminated individuals face higher value threat in higher prestige work groups (Duguid et al. 2010). This is due to the fact that the higher the prestige of the given group, the more stereotyped members will feel pressured to demonstrate they are valuable parts of such groups. High prestige groups represent a relevant opportunity for a discriminated demographic group to disprove the status beliefs associated to their demographic category, and instead to prove they have the ability to fit in and belong to the higher prestige group. Disidentification with one's category and self-identification with the new, high-prestige group, is basic mechanism through which social mobility is achieved, allowing discriminated members to be more regarded and respected, enhancing their self-esteem (Duguid et al. 2010).

The concept of value threat is important because it may lead members of a demographic group to be less willing to support demographically similar others (Duguid et al. 2010). This preference against other members of their group will be revealed when the addition of a new member to the group will increase value threat for the incumbent

discriminated members. The addition of a demographically similar other may indeed carry some risk to strengthen the stereotypes that incumbent discriminated members have been trying to disprove. Incumbents may fear that the new member might behave in a way consistent with the stereotypes associated with their demographic characteristics; Duguid and colleagues define this risk as *collective threat*. In such case, incumbent discriminated members may withdraw their support from demographically similar others, as exemplified by Smith's analysis of whether African-American workers help black unemployed to find a job (2005). The African-American population has been often stereotyped as being lazy and thus less productive (Roberts 2005). Smith's (2005) study revealed that black workers' concern of this stereotype led them to withdraw support from their demographically similar others, fearing that the new members would strengthen rather than dissipate such beliefs.

Another potential factor that may raise value threat among members of a discriminated demographic group is an accusation of favoritism from the other group members. Extending support to demographically similar others may indeed be seen as a favor given to a new potential member that otherwise would not be able to prove his worth by himself. Such action may backfire on the referrer, as this could be seen as a reaffirmation of the negative stereotypes associated to their social category. Thus, such *favoritism threat* may lead members of group under value threat to withdraw support to a demographically similar new member of the group (Duguid et al. 2010). Lastly, the arrival of a demographically similar other may also trigger a competitive mechanism. If the new member outperforms incumbent discriminated members, they might feel their

value to be diminished in the eyes of the rest of the collective. Such *competitive threat* may thus push to withdraw support to demographically similar others (Duguid et al. 2010). This mechanism could well explain why women employed in law firms often display competitive (rather than supportive) relations against other women (Ely 1994).

Whereas in general we might expect the reactivation of shared experience to foster the socialization of new organizational members, and thus their performance, collective, favoritism and competitive threats may make members under value threat to be less willing to support their demographically similar new members. Thus:

H6: The effect of shared experience reactivation on new members' performance will be lower for members of a demographic group under value threat.

The moderating impact of numeric proportion in the focal organization on the effect of shared experience reactivation between members of a demographic group under value threat.

Different elements may positively or negatively moderate the effect of shared experience reactivation between members of a demographic group under value threat. In particular, the numeric proportion between discriminated and non-discriminated employees in the focal organization may be extremely relevant. In fact, whereas Duguid et al. (2010) indicate the numerical representation in the overall profession to have a role in determining the perceived level of value threat by a specific demographic group, such representation may proportionally change from organization to organization. Hence, for instance, even if women on average may face a high level of value threat in a profession over-represented by men, those who work in organizations where female numbers are relatively higher will be better off than those who are not.

The importance of proportions – as defined as the relative numbers of demographically different people in an organization – was first theorized by Kanter (1977) in her study of "tokenism" in firms. She suggested that male-female interactions were dependent upon the proportion of members of both genders in the *specific* collective. Particularly in skewed groups, where discriminated members find themselves relatively isolated, individuals become "tokens" – in other words, they become stronger symbols of the social category they represent, capturing higher awareness from the other group members. Such higher awareness is connected to higher pressure for performance, as their behavior becomes more public, and in general more attention is put on the tokens' discrepant characteristic and the associated beliefs. Together, these two factors may raise value threat for the members of the demographic group under value threat. The smaller the group, in relation to the larger organizational collective, the more the discriminated members may be conscious of their demographic characteristic – and its associated performance expectations - to be the defining factor to be used as the basis for their evaluation. As suggested by Duguid and colleagues (2010), "group members are more likely to become conscious of [the demographic characteristic] as a distinguishing attribute of individuals and to use it as a basis for categorization and evaluation" (p.5). Thus, as the numerical proportion of the group under value threat decreases, the more salient the associated demographic traits become, and the higher value threat gets perceived by its members. In such case, as previously discussed, employees under value

threat may perceive higher degrees of collective, favoritism and competitive threats, and thus be even less willing to offer support to demographically similar new organizational members. We might therefore expect the effect of tie reactivation between members under value threat to be stronger the higher the numerical representation of their group is in the focal organization.

H7: The proportion of demographically similar others in the focal collective will positively moderate the effect of shared experience reactivation on new members' performance under value threat.

The moderating impact of relational embeddedness on the effect of shared experience reactivation between members of a demographic group under value threat.

As previously theorized, shared experience reactivation between members of a demographic group under value threat has a greater impact on the new member performance the less the sponsor perceives value threat. We might expect the level of threat perceived by the sponsor to decrease the longer the history of interactions between the sponsor and the rest of the members of the collective, i.e. the more the sponsor is relationally embedded with the rest of the team. This is due to the fact that, as shown by prior research, the stereotyping that fuels value threat is stronger during the very initial interactions, whereas it tends to weaken with time. Indeed, a story of multiple interactions allows for the acquisition of finer-grained information about the other parties, realigning initial expectations with actual individuals' skills and abilities (Harrison, Price, and Bell

1998), thus making the stereotyping less prominent as individuals rely on their own direct experience rather than on generic status beliefs. Chatman and Flynn (2001) have similarly found that, even if demographic differences initially lead to non-cooperative norms, repeated interactions help groups to get rid of those negative norms. In the context of resident surgeons, Kellogg (2009) has found that higher levels of familiarity between group members is functional to overcome potential biases related to their status category and thus allowing members who would otherwise face discrimination to feel valued parts of their collectives.

For these reasons, I expect a higher level of relational embeddedness between the sponsor and the rest of the members of the collective to facilitate the process of tie reactivation. The greater sense of familiarity and trust between the sponsor and the rest of the group - granted by the higher embeddedness - will allow him to face less pressure related to how his performance is judged in relation to his categorical status. Thus, he will be more motivated to actively help the new organizational member he is sponsoring through the reactivated tie. Consequently, I expect that:

H8: Sponsors' relational embeddedness will positively enhance the effect of shared experience reactivation on new members' performance between members of a demographic group under value threat.

Chapter 4: Methods

Data Sources: The National Basketball Association.

I test my hypotheses using longitudinal data on basketball teams' membership and performance. Using sport as a context for research provides scholars with several advantages, such as accurately measured data, transparency of strategy and processes, and a relatively controlled environment where all teams compete using the same rules and vying for the same goals (Wolfe et al. 2005). Scholars have leveraged similar advantages to study many organizational phenomena, such as organizational loyalty (Adler and Adler 1988), the relationship between pay distribution and performance (Bloom 1999), strategy and performance (Wright, Smart, and McMahan 1995), the effect of managerial succession on organizational performance (Eitzen and Yetman 1972; Allen, Panian, and Lotz 1979; Pfeffer and Alison Davis-Blake 1986), and the contribution of tacit knowledge to sustainable competitive advantage (Berman, Down, and Hill, 2002).

Since sports teams represent a microcosm of society and mirror the world of work (Keidell 1987), they "can serve as a heuristic to guide researchers in analyzing, and managers in running, organizations" (Wolfe et al., 2005: 184). Teams in organizations have many similarities with sport teams (Katz and Koenig 2001; Keidell 1984; Wolfe et al. 2005): they both strive for high performance, have crises, rely on various types of resources (i.e., financial, human, social) to achieve their goals, and share a concern for cooperating internally and competing externally, for managing human resources strategically and developing appropriate systems and structures (Keidell, 1984; Wright, Smart, and

McMahan, 1995). In particular, basketball teams are characterized by strong reciprocal task interdependence and high degree of coordination between team members (Thompson 1967; Berman, Down, and Hill 2002; Keidel 1984). Players continually interact on offense, as demonstrated by the continuous back-and-forth flow of the ball among them, with the goal of getting it to a teammate who is in a position to score. They also coordinate their actions while defending, such as when double-teaming an offensive player and covering for each other on defensive breakdowns. Further, offense and defense are completely overlapping, and may transition into each other instantaneously. Players are usually involved in every play (offense, defense, and transition) and are all in continuous movement. These characteristics make a basketball team a tightly coupled system, in which each player is coupled to all their teammates in a "fluid, unfolding manner" (Keidel, 1984: 9), Many organizational teams closely resemble these systems, especially those in fast changing environments which require very frequent and close interaction among team members: good examples are consulting firms, creative advertising agencies, but also firefighting and SWAT teams, and cross-functional teams more generally. Members of such teams do not have all the knowledge required to perform complex tasks, which requires them to coordinate their actions and mutually adjust to be able to perform their collective tasks effectively. Similarly, because of the nature of the tasks performed, the flow of information in basketball teams is constant and cooperation widespread (Katz and Koenig 2001). All these characteristics make basketball teams a suitable setting for testing my hypotheses.

Ethnic composition of the National Basketball Association

The demographic composition of the NBA makes it a particularly suitable context for investigating the role of demographic similarity on tie reactivation. In general, the literature on demographic similarity and social discrimination has focused on three main demographic characteristics – gender, age and race. Since the NBA is a male basketball league, discriminatory biases based on gender may not be present in this context. Additionally, the vast majority of the players are in the age range 25 to 35, and such restricted span makes age an unlikely candidate for demographic discrimination. The absence of discriminatory mechanisms based on age and gender makes race a particularly interesting element to focus on, especially considering an almost feature of American professional basketball – in opposition to most high-status professional settings, in the NBA the Caucasian (white) group is the one facing discrimination. The overwhelming presence of African American players in the NBA creates an association in the general public between players' ethnic and social origins and their success (Dubrow and Adams, 2010; May 2009), and creates a discriminatory belief that associates Caucasians' physical abilities with inferior performance on a basketball court. In his analysis of televised sports, Bruce (2004) suggests that "in its visual and narrative representations, mediated sport naturalizes the popular fascination with and common-sense acceptance of black athleticism" (p. 861). It is important to note that these discriminatory beliefs do not simply exist among the general population/sports' audience, but also in the population of white athletes (Azzarito and Harrison, 2008). The existence of negative racial stereotypes in sports (and in basketball, specifically) has been document though lab experiments in

multiple occasions (Stone, Lynch, Sjomeling and Darley, 1999; Stone, Perry and Darley, 2010), and such stereotype threat among Caucasian players may well be at the base of a general value threat. The presence of race-based stereotypes has made American basketball a relevant context where to study race discrimination (e.g. Johnson and Marple, 1973; Kanazawa and Funk 2001; Gius and Johnson, 1998), particularly in relation to salaries (Hamilton, 1997). However, discriminatory dynamics *between* players have rarely been analyzed, especially in relation to their socialization and performance, even if lately a racial bias has been found between referees and players (Price and Wolfers, 2010).

Sample description

The NBA is the world's most famous and competitive basketball league, and currently comprises 30 clubs (or 'franchises') and several hundred players. Publicly available game-level data start in 1985, and so my sample is composed of player-game level data gathered over a 26 year period (1985-2011). Since this study is primarily concerned with the performance of new organizational members, my analysis focuses on the 5,866 instances in which a player joined a new team in that time. An important property of this sample is that, on average, NBA players experienced three (2.91) such transitions during the course of their careers, allowing me to analyze multiple organizational transitions for each individual player while controlling for individual constant unobservable characteristics by including players' fixed effects in my estimation strategy. Moreover, given that an NBA season includes 82 games, the analysis of game-level performance allows me to study the

evolution of individual performance within seasons, effectively accounting for the effect of socialization (Chen 2005). Thus, over the 26 seasons, my total data sample includes 225,307 player-game observations.

Dependent variable

Individual performance. The availability of precise measurements of players' performance is one the most valuable factors in using sports data. In most other settings, detailed objective measures of individual performance are very rare (Castilla, 2005). Basketball leagues keep detailed accounts of a variety of players' statistics, including shots taken, points scored, rebounds, steals, blocks and turnovers, and the NBA includes such statistics in a single index called *NBA efficiency*, which summarizes players' performance. This index provides an accurate estimation of a player's productivity when on court, and has the added advantage that their performance can be calculated for each stint, game or season, hence providing a measure of performance in various time-spans. It is important to note that, despite its name, NBA efficiency is not standardized by the number of minutes each player spends on the court – in other words, this indicator is highly correlated with the time players are deployed on the court for. Whereas this could be seen as a limitation, the allocation of the minutes on the court is a decision made by the head coach. Since the number of playable minutes per game is fixed, a coach's decision to allocate minutes parallels the resource allocation processes that are usually present in most hierarchical organizations. Therefore, "receiving" more playing time can be itself considered a measure of performance, as we should expect coaches to deploy their best players for the longer

periods possible. Hence, I also considered *minutes played per game* as an alternative measure of individual performance,

Independent Variables

Shared experience reactivation. The focal point of this study is to examine the effects to shared experience reactivation. In order to measure shared experience, I look at whether two players were employed in the same club for a whole season during a moving window of ten years preceding the focal observation. Thus, if player A joins club Alpha in 2006, I calculate if he shared a common playing season with at least one of his new team members during the period 1996-2005. If so, the dummy variable *tie reactivation* takes a value of 1, and 0 otherwise. While this dichotomous operationalization captures the presence of at least one reactivated tie, a new team member may have the opportunity of reactivating several shared experience ties during his socialization. For instance, player A might have shared a common work experience with player B in team Beta in 2000, and another one with player C in team Charlie in 1998. To capture the magnitude of this phenomenon, I additionally use a continuous version of my tie reactivation indicator (tie *reactivation continuous*) that counts the number of ties a newcomer reactivates when joining a new club. Additionally, players might reactivate ties with coaches as well, as they might have worked under their current new coach under different circumstances. To capture this effect, I also consider re-activation between players and coaches in my operationalization, and add a dummy *coach reactivation* to indicate whether the reactivated tie is between player and coach.

Strength of tie reactivation and tie dormancy. My longitudinal sample and the consistency of its measurement allow to operationalize the passage of time and its impact in terms of tie strength and tying dormancy. Figure 4 graphically represent different reactivated ties, and the role of time in determining their effect.

INSERT FIGURE 4 HERE

Figure 4 illustrates the past life-spans of four different shared experience ties that get reactivated at time t. In order to account for their effect at time t, it is important to account for both their past activity and dormancy period. Solid lines in the Figure 4 represent periods in which the ties were active (i.e. when sponsor and newcomer were playing together in their previous team), while dotted lines times when the two players were not in the same team. For instance, the two players composing Tie A played together for the same amount of time as Tie B players, but interrupted their collaboration earlier in time, and hence their tie remained dormant for a longer period. Differently, Tie B and C have remained dormant for the same amount of time, but Tie C player had a longer collaboration beforehand. Tie D players, instead, reactivated their tie twice during their careers. These simplified examples denote the importance of independently operationalizing three different time-based effects -a) tie strength, in terms of how long the two players played together in the past for; b) tie dormancy, as the period in which the tie has not been active; and c) potential career-based effects, that indicate whether reactivation earlier in the players' career may be more or less beneficial. Thus, in order to test the effects of tie strength on shared experience reactivation, I count the number of

seasons the new team member and the 'sponsor' played together in the past. If players A and B shared four seasons in common between 1996 and 2000, the variable *strength of tie reactivation* is given the value four. This measure follows similar approaches adopted in the literature on shared experience (by, e.g., Reagans et al., 2005; Espinosa et al, 2007). In a similar fashion *tie dormancy* is measured as the sum of the number of seasons in which the two players have not played together since their tie was last active. So in the previous case, if the reactivation occurs in 2006, tie dormancy will have a value of six, as 2000 was the last year in which the two players were playing together. It is important to note that, in the occurrences when multiple tie reactivation and *tie dormancy*. In such case, I adopt the highest value of tie strength, and the lowest value of tie dormancy, under the assumption that the newcomer will utilize the most recent and strongest tie to maximize his benefits.

Finally, in order to control for potential career-based effects, I include *tenure in the NBA* as an indicator capturing the number of seasons spent in the NBA by the newcomer. Controlling for the career trajectory of players is particularly critical as, mechanically, more experienced newcomers are more likely to reactivate a tie, due to the fact that they have been exposed to a higher number of teams and colleagues over their career.

Sponsors' relational embeddedness. Chapter 2 investigates the theoretical mechanisms that may enable highly embedded sponsors to have a greater impact on newcomers' performance. Thus, I define *sponsors' relational embeddedness* as the average tie strength of the shared experience ties between the sponsor and the other old-timers. Tie strength is operationalized as the number of seasons each dyad has spent together in the

previous 10 years. More formally:

$$RE_i = \sum_j (1 - \alpha)^{(\beta - 1)}$$
^[1]

where RE_i represents the value of relational embeddedness for sponsor *I*, *j* represents any possible dyad of players (including the coach) who played at least one season together in the past 10 years, α is a time discount factor (10%), and β represents how many seasons ago the players in the dyad played together. Time discount α accounts for the fact that we could expect older shared experiences to have less impact than newer ones (i.e., having played together ten years ago should have less impact than having done so during the last season). α acts as a compound discount factor for every season past the current one. Thus, in an imaginary Club Alpha with only three members (A, B and C) who have played together before - A and B for the last three seasons, with C joining only one year ago - A would have a relational embeddedness of 2.71 (A-B_{t-3} = .64, A-B_{t-2} = .80, A-B_{t-1} = 1, and A-C_{t-1} = 1).

Race and demographic indicators. I followed recent studies in the operationalization of demographic characteristics. Price and Wolfers (2010) use skin complexion as a visual determinant for operationalizing race, subdividing the NBA players' population into black and white players. Asian and Hispanics and other non-white, non-black racial groups are not highly represented in the NBA, and will be imprecisely considered as "white" in my analysis (for a similar operationalization, see Price and Wolfers, 2010). Data on players' race was obtained from <u>www.databasebasketball.com</u>, with the addition of manual coding based on players' and coaches' images collected from

www.nba.com and www.google.com.

Control variables

Human capital. Another benefit of using sports data is the possibility of adopting a clearer distinction between human and social capital, the lack of which has plagued current research on social capital (Payne et al., 2011). Since human capital is considered relatively constant over time, I employ player-level fixed effects to control for the effects of talent as an alternative strategy. However, in order to account for fluctuations in skills and talent, I also include the prior season *Player Efficiency Rating* (PER) in my regressions as a control for human capital. Inspired by sabermetrics and created by statistician John Hollinger (Hollinger, 2005), PER provides a more precise view of players' performance. The PER does not simply add or subtract individual statistics, but weights them, standardizing them by minutes played and controlling for different team strategies (which might affect the number of opportunities each player has to score).

Time. Game-level data allows me to explore how the effects of tie reactivation change during the socialization period. Since the NBA season consists of 82 games, I included the following two variables to account for the passage of time. *Games played* represents the total of actual games played by the focal newcomer during the current season, and indicating the unfolding of the socialization period of the player. *Game number* is a numerical progressive indicator of the match under analysis, and so indicates whether it is played early or late during the season.

Age and individual experience. I used other individual control variables to account

for potential confounding effects. It was particularly important to include players' age and experience in the league, as both variables are likely to be correlated to the likelihood of reactivating a tie. In fact, older players, as well as players that have longer careers, are more likely to have played with a higher number of other players in the past. Since the NBA is a closed system, it then becomes more likely for them to reactivate one or more ties when they transition to a new team. Controlling for these two factors is thus very important for the reliability of my analysis.

Team size and past team performance. Two team-level variables are likely to be correlated with the chance of reactivating a tie. The first is *team size* – measured as the total number of players in the team. Bigger teams create more opportunities for tie reactivation, for the simple reason of having more players. Since I investigate tie reactivation as past shared experience between a newcomer and an incumbent, a higher number of incumbents makes it more likely for a tie to be reactivated. At the same time, larger teams might be characterized by a higher degree of internal competition, creating an additional hurdle for newcomers to perform at higher levels.

In a similar vein, I control for the focal *team performance in the previous year*. Team that perform worse are more likely to change their roster composition, hence increasing the overall number of newcomers (and, consequently, internal competition) and decreasing the chance for a tie to be reactivated, due to incumbents' turnover. Moreover, change in the roster is likely to affect the level of sponsors' relational embeddedness, which is likely to go down with increased turnover. I control for both potential confounding effects by including *team size* and *team performance in the previous year* in all my regression models.

Empirical strategy

I employed multivariate regression analysis to test my hypotheses, adopting different estimation procedures to ensure the robustness of my findings. My main models adopt an Ordinary Least Square (OLS) approach, including individual-level fixed effects (Greene 2008, Castilla 2007). Employing individual fixed-effect estimations in my context leverages important characteristics of my data, in particular the fact that players often experiences multiple transitions over their careers. This allows me to control for all the constant individual-level effects, including individual experience before the NBA, coaching exposure during high school and college, physical characteristics and overall level of basketball talent. A statistically significant Hausman test (p < .001) reveals fixed-effects to be preferable to random-effects, due to the systematic difference in their estimated coefficients. Standard errors were adjusted by introducing clustering-correction at the level of the players', and using Huber-White estimators of variance (White 1980). Results also proved to be robust when including autoregressive disturbances of order one. I employed the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) to evaluate model fit. BIC can be used to compare model fit across different regression models, where lower values of BIC should be preferred over bigger ones.

My empirical strategy analyzes newcomers' performance at the game (match) level. This allows me to compare, within newcomers, matches in season in which the newcomer does not reactivate a shared experience tie with matches in seasons where such tie does exist. Figure 5 depicts an graphical representation of my data.

INSERT FIGURE 5 ABOUT HERE

Figure 5 presents an illustration of an exemplified career of a generic player and his team affiliation over three years (from the left to the right). Each year is subdivided into 10 games (G1-G10). For the sake of simplicity, we will assume that our generic player is employed in every single game. My level of analysis is at the game – in other words, I estimate a players' performance in each single game.

In my example, the focal player is a newcomer in every single year, as he moves from Team Alpha to Team Beta at his second year, and over to Team Delta on his third year. Moreover, he experiences a transition to a new organization in the middle of his second year, when he switches to Team Gamma. His tenure at Team Gamma is characterized by a tie reactivation (signaled by an "R" in Figure 5). Thus, I am interested in understanding if the reactivated tie experienced when at Team Gamma has a positive effect on his performance. The estimated coefficients for tie reactivation will then explain by how much reactivation impacts his performance in comparison to games played in situations where such tie did not exists (Team Alpha, Team Beta and Team Delta). I present my results in the following chapter.

Chapter 5: Statistical Analyses and Results

This chapter illustrated my statistical analysis and presents my regression models. I will start by briefly presenting the descriptive statistics of my sample and proposing some initial considerations. The rest of the chapter is divided in two major sections, following the two theoretical frameworks proposed in chapter 2 and chapter 3, respectively. Tables 2 through 5 contain the results of my regression models used to empirically investigate the first set of hypothesis presented in chapter 2 (H1-H4b), which focus on studying the effects of tie reactivation and exploring several moderators, including tie strength, the sponsors' relational embeddedness and tie dormancy. I then shift the focus on exploring the role of demographic similarity in tables 6 to 10, where I try to understand which factors lead members of discriminated groups to help each other or not. Table 1 reports descriptive statistics and the bivariate correlation table for the main variables.

INSERT TABLE 1 ABOUT HERE

The average age of newcomers is 26.15 years, and their average tenure in the NBA is about 4 seasons. Newcomers play on average 30 games for their new team. The correlation matrix reveals an unexpected initial finding. The tie reactivation seems not to be significantly correlated with individual performance, casting doubts on the relationship between tie reactivation and performance. I will introduce my multivariate analysis to explore further this initial finding.

Testing the effects of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance

Basic performance effect, and socialization trajectory (H1a and H1b)

The multivariate regression analysis presented in Table 2 explores these preliminary results further, providing statistical support for Hypotheses H1a and H1b.

INSERT TABLE 2 ABOUT HERE

The first model (2A) reports the estimation of a controls-only model. The coefficients of the control variables generally behave according to expectations. The indicator for human capital (PER previous season) is statistically significant (p < .001) and positively related to players' performance in the current year. As expected, more talented players tend to perform better when joining a new team. It is important to note that such effect is netted of player-level unobserved heterogeneity. This implies that all my statistical analysis account for both dispositional talents (i.e. innate abilities) and acquired talent (i.e. the change in skill level over one's career). The positive and significant coefficients for *number of games played in season* suggests new organizational members undergo a learning process – as expected, the more games they play with their new team, the better they perform, although their abilities seem to decline during the season (p < .001), perhaps due to deterioration in their levels of physical fitness, or perhaps because coaches tend to give newcomers less playing time as the season approaches its end. Age also seems to have a negative effect on performance, which becomes statistically significant (p < .01) only in

those models that additionally consider my explanatory variables (from 2C to 2G). The effects of *team size* and *team performance (prior season)* also merit attention. Team size is positively related to newcomers' performance (p < 0.001), and effect that could potentially be explained by the lower degree of competition. Teams that acquire more players tend to be worse, and in such conditions newcomers are more likely to emerge as substantial contributors to the team. A similar explanation can be given to the negative coefficient for *team performance (prior season)* (p < 0.001). Since we might expect team performance to be autocorrelated, the coefficient seems to point at the fact that it is harder for newcomers to play significant amounts of minutes in better teams.

Model 2B incorporates the main explanatory variable *tie reactivation (dichotomous)* to test my first hypothesis (H1a). Such operator is an indicator variable that assumes the value of 1 when the newcomer reactivates at least one tie with his new team members. In opposition to my theoretical expectations, the effect for reactivated past shared experience seems not to be statistically different from zero (p > .05). To further explore this unexpected result, I have investigated whether the effect of tie reactivation may be dependent on the value of other covariates. The introduction of an interaction effect between *tie reactivation* and *experience in the NBA* reveals to be significant and negative (p < 0.001), and drastically improves the overall model fit (a drop of 1,532 points in BIC). These results seem to suggest that tie reactivation does indeed matter (H1a), but mostly for newcomers that are early in their careers. An explanation may be the existence of a learning process through which players, throughout the evolution of their career, acquire knowledge and skills that enable them to transition more easily into new working environments, even

without the help of an organizational sponsor. This seems to be an even stronger proof of the theoretical mechanisms on which hypothesis 1a is based.

Models 2D-2G provide empirical support for H1b, which posited that the effect of tie reactivation would dwindle along the socialization period. The socialization period can be measured by two different indicators – either by operationalizing it with *time (within* season) or with # of games played in season. Whereas the two variables are highly correlated (.71), they indicate two slightly different processes. The former is an absolute metric of time – which indicates at what point in time the game under consideration is played. The latter counts the number of games played by the newcomer. So, for instance, a for player who joins the team mid-way through the season the *time* indicator might be high, but *the number of games played* indicator may be low. Thus, I decided to test H1b considering both specifications, selectively entering interaction terms with both variables and tie reactivation in Models 2D and 2E. Both terms are negative and statistically significant (p < 0.05), suggesting empirical evidence for H1b. However, it is theoretically relevant to determine which time-based process better captures the socialization effect. I thus enter both interaction terms in Model 2F. The interaction term between *tie reactivation* and *time (within season)* seems to provide a better explanation of the variance, while the interaction term between tie reactivation and number of games played loses statistical significance. I will discuss this finding in my conclusions.

Finally, in order to relax the assumption of linearity of the effect of time, I split the *tie reactivation* dummy into three components, depending on when the focal game is played in the season. This allows me to directly compare the strength of the tie reactivation

effect between the first and second halves of the season, as well as with playoff games. As expected, a comparative F-test shows that the effect of tie reactivation is stronger in the first half of the season in comparison to the second (p < 0.01), as suggested by H1b. However, by comparing the tie reactivation effect between playoff time and the second half of the season, it is worthwhile noting that the former is higher than the latter (p < 0.01). I will comment on this finding in my conclusions.

Testing the moderation effects of tie strength and tie decay

The regression analyses presented in Table 3 present empirical evidence for hypotheses H2, H4a and H4b. Since H2 and H4b both revolve around the effects of tie strength, I decided to group and present the results of these hypotheses together.

INSERT TABLE 3 ABOUT HERE

Hypothesis 2 posits that the performance effect of a reactivated tie is proportional to its past strength. In order to test such hypothesis, I include two dummy variables for tie reactivation in Model 3A, differentiating them on the basis of tie strength. *Tie reactivation (high tie strength)* assumes a value of 1 when the tie strength of the reactivated tie is above average, while *Tie reactivation (low tie strength)* represents activations of below-average strength. A comparison of the BIC criterion between Model 3A and the baseline model indicates a noteworthy increase in model fit, indicating that differentiating tie reactivation by tie strength greatly increase the model's explanatory power. As expected, the two effects are positive and significant (p < 0.001), and a statistical comparison between their magnitude reveals that high strength reactivations have a bigger impact on newcomers' performance than low strength reactivation. The difference between the two coefficients is statistically significant (F-test: p < 0.01), thus statistically supporting my second hypothesis.

Models 3B and 3C present the effects of time on the tie reactivation process. First, I investigate the role of tie dormancy on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (H4a). This hypothesis posits that ties that remained dormant for a shorter period should experience less decay in their embedded social capital, and thus provide stronger effect on performance when reactivated. Similarly to what I have done for H2, I introduce in Model 3B two dummy variables for tie reactivation, differentiating between reactivated tie with below average dormancy period (*low tie dormancy*) and above average dormancy (high tie dormancy). As expected, the two types of reactivation have a positive effect on performance (p < 0.001). A comparison between the two effects is required in order to find evidence to support H4a. Low dormancy reactivation displays a higher coefficient than high dormancy reactivation, as proposed by H4a, but such difference is not statistically different (p > 0.05). Moreover, in comparison to the baseline model, Model 3B does not provide a better fit, as displayed by the higher BIC score. Thus, despite going in the expected direction, the magnitude of the difference between high and low dormancy reactivation does not provide statistical evidence to support H4a.

Finally, Model 3C empirically explores hypothesis 4b, which suggests that stronger ties should decay at a slower rate than weaker ties. Whereas reactivated ties on average do

not show decay (as discussed in the previous paragraph), it may still be possible that strong and weak ties may differently be affected by the passage of time. In order to empirically test for such possibility, I introduce four dummy variables in Model 3C, covering all the possible combinations between high and low strength and high and low dormancy. For the sake of clarity, I will refer to the numbers placed next to the coefficients when discussing their effects (for instance, (1) refers to high-strength high-dormancy tie reactivation). As we should expect, all the coefficients are positive and statistically significant (p < 0.001), indicating that all reactivated ties have, in absolute, a positive effect on newcomers' performance. In order to test for H4b, we have to investigate their relative magnitude. In particular, H4a predicts that the effect for tie dormancy will be stronger for weak ties, in comparison to strong ones. In terms of my analysis, this means that the difference between (4) and (3) should be positive and greater than the one between (2) and (1) – in other words, dormancy should be more relevant for weak ties. Yet again, preliminary evidence seem to suggest that this may be the case – the coefficients do indeed behave in the expected manner – but fail to provide statistical evidence. In fact, there is no reliable statistical difference between (4) and (3) and between (2) and (1) – so they are both not distinguishable from zero. The analysis of model fit via BIC scores seem again to prove the same result. While the BIC for Model 3C is smaller than the baseline model (-31), it is not smaller than model (3A). This implies that splitting the tie strength-based dummies into high and low dormancy does not add any additional specification to my analysis. In synthesis, I could not find any statistical evidence for hypothesis 4b.

Testing the moderation effect of sponsors' relational embeddedness

I investigate the empirical support for hypothesis 3 (H3) in the following table (Table 4). Hypothesis 3 concerns the role of the sponsors' relational embeddedness on the performance of the newcomer.

INSERT TABLE 4 ABOUT HERE

My approach to test H3 is similar to what I employed for H2 and H4a. Model 4A included two dummies for tie reactivation, separated by the relative value of the sponsors' relational embeddedness. *Tie reactivation (sponsors' high embeddedness)* indicate reactivations characterized by an above-average value of sponsors' relational embeddedness, while *tie reactivation (sponsors' low embeddedness)* capture the effects of reactivations below-average in sponsors' relational embeddedness. Both indicators are positive and statistically significant (p < 0.001), as expected. Model 4A also displays a significant improvement in model fit in relation to the baseline model (difference in BIC: -41). Comparing the magnitude of the two coefficients will prove whether reactivations characterized by high sponsors' embeddedness have a stronger effect than the lower counterpart. Indeed, the former has a bigger effect than the latter, with the support of a comparative F-test (p < 0.001), providing statistical support for the role of the relational embeddedness of the sponsor. H3 is thus supported.

The following models 4B and 4C explore whether the effect of relational embeddedness of the sponsor is dependent upon the internal structure of the team network. In particular, I decided to explore whether the embeddedness in a specific subpart of the network matters more or less in terms of newcomers' performance. I thus decided to alternatively consider the relational embeddedness with the core and the periphery of the network. I operationalized the two subsections based on the average minutes played by the team members in a game during the focal season. If a team member played more than 26 minutes per-game was considered a member of the core, or of the periphery otherwise (a sensitivity analysis revealed no major discrepancies when alternative cut-offs where considered). Thus, I have calculated the sponsors' relational embeddedness by core and periphery only, and then included dummy variables for high and low relational embeddedness with core and periphery in Models 4B and 4C. In both models, the dummies for tie reactivation at various levels of relational embeddedness had positive and significant effects (p < 0.001). However, the difference between high and low sponsors' relational embeddedness was statistically significant (p < 0.01) only when the core of the network was considered (Model 4B), while it was not dissimilar in the case of the periphery (Model 4C). The implications will be discussed in the conclusion section.

A potential confounding factor of the effect of the sponsors' relational embeddedness could be the sponsors' tenure. The two variables are highly correlated, and it is easy to understand why – members who spend more time with a team are more likely to be more relationally embedded. Despite being numerically similar, the two variables have distinctive theoretical implications. Tenure captures seniority, and thus is likely to indicate social status. Instead, relational embeddedness is an indicator of social capital and trust. To examine whether the effect of the latter is separate from the former, I first explore the role of sponsors' tenure on the performance effects of tie reactivation (Model 4D). Similarly to the previous models, I introduce two dummy variables to capture sponsors' high and low tenure (in relation to the mean). The coefficients for the two indicators are positive and statistically significant (p < 0.001), in line with the prior results. An analysis of their coefficients reveal that reactivations made possible by high tenured sponsors' have a stronger effect than those featured by low tenured sponsors, but the difference between the two coefficients is not statistically significant (p > 0.05). Moreover, the overall model fit is comparable to the baseline model (BIC difference: +1), indicating that including indicator variables based on the sponsors' tenure does not improve the descriptive power of our model. Tenure does not seem to have a relevant impact on the effects of tie reactivation.

While Model 4D suggest that tenure does not play a major role, the final model of Table 4 (Model 4E) tests the effect of the sponsors' relational embeddedness by controlling for their tenure. In order to achieve this, I introduced four indicator variables in Model 4E, for each combination of sponsors' high and low relational embeddedness and tenure. Hypothesis 3 would be confirmed if a positive difference in the magnitude of the coefficients exists across different levels of relational embeddedness, while keeping tenure constant. In other words, coefficient (1) should be bigger than (2), and (3) bigger than (4). Indeed the results hold, even if only the latter difference carries statistical reliability (p < 0.08). On the other hand, tenure seems not to have an effect. Coefficients (1) and (3) are virtually identical, and (2) and (4) only slightly different, showing that

changes in tenure – while keeping relational embeddedness constant - do not have an impact on newcomers' performance. Moreover, it is noteworthy that the additional specification – while better than the baseline model – does not advance model fit in comparison to Model 4A (BIC: +30). In sum, the data provides sufficient statistical evidence for supporting hypothesis 3.

Robustness tests: Multiple tie reactivations

I ran additional regression models to strengthen the evidence provided in the previous sections. In particular, I was interested in investigating the role played by multiple tie reactivations, and further explore the relation between tie reactivation and experience in the NBA. Table 5 presents such analyses.

INSERT TABLE 5 ABOUT HERE

The analyses presented in Tables 2 to 4 used a dichotomized operationalization of tie reactivation, using a dummy variable that indicated the presence of at least one reactivated tie. However, multiple ties can be reactivated at the same time for any specific newcomer. A descriptive analysis reveals that 25% of the overall instances of tie reactivation are indeed multiple. Whereas I did not explicitly theorized the performance effect of multiple ties vis-à-vis a single one, there is no reason to believe that the reactivation of multiple ties may indeed prove to be more effective than a single instance. Thus, in Model 5A I introduce a continuous operationalization of tie reactivation – a
variable that counts the number of reactivated ties that are present in the team. The coefficient for this alternative specification is positive and significant (p < 0.001), proving that the effect on newcomers' performance of ties in addition to the first substantially stack up.

The following question regards the rate of returns of multiple reactivated ties. Depending on alternative theoretical explanations (which I will consider in the discussion section), the marginal rate of returns of additional reactivated ties could be constant, positive or negative. I empirically explore this question in Model 5B, where I include a quadratic term for the continuous operator of tie reactivation. Such coefficient proves to be positive and statistically significant (p < 0.05), revealing that tie reactivation has a positive marginal rate of return, as shown by Figure 6:

INSERT FIGURE 6 ABOUT HERE

Figure 6 displays the relationship between tie reactivation (continuous) and performance. The quadratic effect is not particularly strong, but it is important to note that its inclusion substantially increases model fit (BIC: -53), revealing that the quadratic specification of the model indeed provides a better description of the relationship between tie reactivation and performance. I will discuss the theoretical relevance of such finding in the next chapter.

In Model 5C I further discriminate between types of ties by looking at reactivation with the coach vs. reactivation with other players. Coach-players relations

are substantially different from the one between peers (player-to-player), the former being more hierarchical and defined by a formal role structure. Thus, I explore whether reactivating the two have differing effects on newcomers' performance. I do so by including two new explanatory variables in Model 5C – *tie reactivation (sponsor is coach*) and *tie reactivation (sponsor is player*). The former is a dummy variable that assumes the value of 1 if the current head coach of the team reactivated a tie with the focal newcomer. The latter is akin to the continuous operationalization of tie reactivation, but only considers those sponsors' that are players (not coaches). Model 5C shows that both coefficients for coaches and players sponsors' are positive and statistically significant (p < 0.001) – as expected, both kinds of reactivations provide performance benefits. A comparative analysis of the magnitude of the two coefficients reveals that the effect of reactivations with players' is stronger than the one with coaches, albeit without statistical support (p > 0.05). Still, I consider the result to be noteworthy, as there are reasons to believe that reactivations with coaches might be worth more. Again, I will discuss this finding in my concluding chapter.

Hypothesis H1b posited that the effect on performance of tie reactivation should be stronger earlier in the socialization period. The dichotomous analysis presented in this chapter provided support for such hypothesized relation, which was additionally explored in Model 5D by using the continuous version of the operationalization for tie reactivation. I did so by including an interaction term between *tie reactivation (continuous)* and *time within season*. Such coefficient proved to be statistically significant and negative (p < 0.05), yet again confirming that the effect for tie reactivation is stronger earlier in the basketball season. The interaction effect is displayed in Figure 7.

INSERT FIGURE 7 ABOUT HERE

The interaction between tie reactivation (continuous) and time within season displays an interesting pattern. Whereas the effect of multiple reactivations stack up, becoming stronger as the number of ties increases, the overall time trend tends in the opposite direction. In other words, the higher the number of reactivated ties, the stronger the effect at the beginning of the season, but also the smaller the marginal effect as the season progresses.

Exploring the effects of demographic similarity on tie reactivation

Testing the effect of demographic similarity

Tables 6 to 10 report my statistical analyses on the effects of demographic similarity on the performance outcomes of tie reactivation. I present some initial exploratory models in Table 6, together with evidence to evaluate hypothesis 5.

INSERT TABLE 6 ABOUT HERE

First, I am interested in understanding – in general - whether white or black players benefit more from tie reactivation. Despite not explicitly hypothesizing a racebased effect, my assumption on the stronger degree of discrimination faced by white players leads me to expect that white newcomers would benefit more from the presence of a sponsor during their socialization than black newcomers. Thus, in Model 6A I introduced two dummy variables based on the race of the newcomer. *Tie reactivation (white newcomer)* takes a value of 1 when the newcomer reactivating a tie is white, and 0 if not. Similarly, I introduce an indicator for black newcomers (*tie reactivation – black newcomer*). It is important to note that this initial analysis does not discriminate between the sponsors' race. As expected, both white and black players benefit from tie reactivation (p < 0.001). A differential F-test between the magnitude of the two coefficients reveals that white players tend to benefit more, on average, from tie reactivation (p < 0.05), confirming that my initial assumption related to their greater integration difficulties holds.

My second exploratory analysis moves the focus on the race of the sponsors. I apply the same approach seen in Model 6A to Model 6B, where I investigate whether black or white sponsors' have a greater impact on newcomers' performance. Three indicator variables individually capture whether the sponsors' are white, black or mixed. The third category captures those instances in which multiple tie reactivations occurred, but the set of sponsors' were not homogeneous. Sponsors of different races seem to equally impact newcomers' performance, as revealed by a comparative F-test between the magnitudes of the three positive coefficients (p > 0.05). Thus, at least on average, race seems not to affect the role played by the sponsors' in the tie reactivation process.

After investigating the role of race separately, in Model 6C I move on to analyze whether reactivated dyads of the same race (homophilous ties) tend to produce higher performance outputs than dyads of different races (heterophilous ties), as predicted by hypothesis 5 (H5). Once again, in order to clearly separate and compare the effect of homophilous vs. heterophilous ties, I decided to introduce a third category (mixed tie) in those instances where the set of sponsors' was not completely white or black. Model 6C does not provide empirical support for H5. In fact, while both indicators for homophilous and heterophilous reactivated ties are positive and significant (p < 0.001), the difference of their coefficients is not statistically significant (p > 0.05). Hence, the notion that homophilous ties produce higher outputs finds no empirical evidence.

Testing the role of value threat, and tie reactivation between members of the discriminated group

With Table 6, my analysis on demographic similarity began by considering the role played by race on newcomers and sponsors. Then I moved to investigating whether reactivations between players of the same race had a bigger effect on performance, but without discriminating by race, i.e. without testing whether reactivations between black players have a stronger effect than reactivations between white players. This will then be my focus on the following analyses. Results illustrated by Table 7 are based not simply

based on race similarity, but distinguish between newcomers and sponsors' membership in the discriminated group.

INSERT TABLE 7 ABOUT HERE

Table 7 specifies tie reactivation effects within and across race groups. I introduced a dummy variable for each possible race-based combination between newcomer and sponsor(s). As discussed before, I specify the sponsors as being "mixed" when multiple activations occur, with sponsors' of difference race. This allows me to more distinctively isolate effects across demographic groups. Model 7A estimates such indicators. All the tie reactivation variables are statistically significant and with a positive effect (p < 0.001), as expected. The fact that tie reactivations help newcomers, independently from their race and from their sponsors' race, is consistent with my overall

theorization. Defining reactivations by race drastically improves the model fit (BIC: -131), an initial indication that specifying differences in race improves our understanding of the phenomenon under study.

Hypothesis six (H6) posits that, due to value threat, sponsors' of the discriminated group are lest vested in helping other members of their group. In order to statistically test such hypothesis, I would expect white newcomers to have stronger benefits when their reactivated sponsor is black rather than white. Indeed, the effect for the white-black dyad is stronger than the one for the white-white dyad. The difference, however, is not statistically significant (p > 0.05), thus failing to find initial support for H6.

However, the white-white reactivations may be strongly influenced by the number of other white players present in the team, as suggested by hypotheses 7. Sponsors integrated in a team with a higher number of demographically similar others may be less prone to face value-based threats. I thus introduce in Model 7B an interaction between the number of white players in the team and the effect for the white-white tie reactivation. Despite improving my overall model fit (BIC: -76), such interaction is not significant. Again, there seem to be no support for H7.

Considering that perception of value-threat is due to the incumbents' scrutiny and judgments, an additional analysis is warranted. Instead of considering the totality of the white players' population, the white-white reactivation might depend on the number of white *veterans* that are present on the teams. Veterans are more likely to be more judgmental, and impose a higher pressure on one's value-threat. Thus, in model 7C I introduce an interaction term between white-white tie reactivations and the number of white veterans. The inclusion of such term substantially improves model fit (BIC: -203), again demonstrating the added informational value of this latter model specification. The interaction term is positive and significant (p < 0.05), suggesting that the number of white veterans has a deep impact on the effect that white-white reactivations have. The higher the number of veterans, the safer white sponsors' feel when helping a demographically similar other, and hence the stronger the effect on performance that gets produced. Moreover, the inclusion of the interaction term has a deep impact on the base effect of the white-white reactivation, as predicted by H7. In comparison to the previous model, the effect drops significantly, and its difference with the white-black coefficient becomes

statistically significant, providing evidence for H6. Therefore, when considering the role played by veterans, both H6 and H7 find empirical support.

Testing the moderating effect of sponsors' relational embeddedness in the discriminated group

Finally, I will explore how relational embeddedness impacts the effect of valuethreat. Hypothesis 8 posits that highly embedded white sponsors should experience less value-threat, and thus the white-white tie reactivations should be stronger where sponsors' are more embedded.

INSERT TABLE 8 ABOUT HERE

I incorporate sponsors' relational embeddedness in Model 9A, where I separate high and low levels of embeddedness for each of the pair-wise dyads based on racial similarity/dissimilarity. The introduction of relational embeddedness improves model fit, demonstrating that the inclusion of relational embeddedness provides meaningful information to the regression models. Hypothesis 8 assumes that players that are more embedded in the network should perceive lower levels of value threat, and thus should be more helpful towards demographically similar others. In regression terms, I should thus expect that white sponsors with high embeddedness should have a stronger impact on white newcomers' performance than white sponsors' that are less embedded. A comparison between the magnitude of the effects of the coefficients for *white-white reactivation (sponsors' high embeddedness)* and *white-white reactivation (sponsors' low* *embeddedness)* seems to provide such evidence. In fact, the magnitude of the former is higher than the latter, and a comparative F-test proves that the difference is statistically significant (p < 0.05). Therefore, Model 8A provides evidence to support H8.

As discussed for H3, the sponsors' tenure could be a confounding factor of their levels of relational embeddedness, as the two constructs are likely to be correlated. To investigate this potential problem, I run an analysis similar to Model 8A in the following table, dividing my effects by high and low levels of sponsors' tenure.

INSERT TABLE 9 ABOUT HERE

Table 9 reports such analysis. The focus in Model 9A is on the difference between the coefficients *white-white reactivation (sponsors' high tenure)* and *white-white reactivation (sponsors' low tenure)*. Unexpectedly, the latter is higher than the former, with their difference being substantial and statistically significant (p < 0.05). This implies that while *more embedded* discriminated sponsors' are more likely to have a deeper impact on demographically similar newcomers' performance (Model 8A – Table 8), the same happens for sponsors that have a *lower tenure* (Model 9A – Table 9) – in other words, highly tenured white sponsors are less likely to help a newcomer to perform better.

A final test is required to jointly consider the dynamics of sponsors' tenure and relational embeddedness of white sponsors. The regression model presented in Table 10 estimates the effect of both high and low levels of white sponsors' tenure and relational embeddedness.

INSERT TABLE 10 ABOUT HERE

Model 10A, presented in Table 10, includes four dummy variables for white-towhite reactivations (i.e. both the newcomer and the sponsors' are white). These variables distinguish between the four possible combinations of high and low sponsors' tenure and relational embeddedness. In order to provide empirical evidence for supporting hypothesis 8, the difference in magnitude between coefficients of high and low relational embeddedness should be positive and statistically significant, across levels of sponsors' tenure. Thus, both differences between coefficients (1)-(2) and (3)-(4) should be relevant and significant. Comparative F-tests support this view (p < 0.05). Hence, this stringent test of H8 provides further empirical evidence for the hypothesis.

A similar comparison can be done to confirm the negative effect of white sponsors' tenure on white-to-white reactivations. An analysis of the differences between coefficients across levels of relational embeddedness (i.e. (1)-(3) and (2)-(4)) once again confirms the negative association between white sponsors' tenure and white newcomers' performance. Both differences are statistically significant (p < 0.05), showing that highly tenured sponsors' are less likely to be associated with higher newcomers' performance. The most interesting cases are the ones featuring white sponsors' with high tenure but low embeddedness (coefficient 2). Such coefficient is not statistically different from zero (p > 0.05), which implies that on average these sponsors are not helpful. Vice versa, the most productive sponsors are those highly embedded but with low tenure (coefficient 3). These findings will be discussed in the following chapter.

Chapter 6: Discussion and Conclusions

The aim of this study was to analyze the extent to which the reactivation of past work relationships may enable new organizational members to achieve higher performance. To do so, I analyzed a large longitudinal dataset (1985-2011) of basketball players of the National Basketball Association (NBA), focusing on shared experience, a social tie that embeds an internal form of social capital. My results not only provided empirical support for the role of reactivated shared experience in generating higher performance for the newcomers, but also explored and found how relevant factors – including internal organizational structure, tie strength, tie dormancy and demographic similarity – impact the magnitude of the effect of shared experience reactivation on newcomers' performance. My findings contribute to the management literature and have practical repercussions.

Theoretical contributions

Contributions to the socialization literature

Although traditional management and organization scholars have devoted much attention to analyzing employees' socialization and organizational entry (Louis 1980; Louis, Posner, and Powell 1983), the topic has received less attention in the last decade, in stark contrast with the greater mobility that characterized contemporary internal and external labor markets (O'Mahony and Bechky 2006). This study contributes to this longstanding tradition of scholarship. Past shared experience has been proven to have a relevant impact on newcomers' socialization and performance, particularly early in employees' careers, and this offers a novel theoretical insight to the socialization literature, which has rarely demonstrated how the effects of different factors may enhance or slow newcomers' performance contingent on their prior experience. I argue that this finding may open a fruitful research stream, highlighting the need for further theoretical explanations and empirical validations of how socialization processes may have various levels of effect for more or less experienced professionals. Moreover, the effect of the reactivation of social ties also provides not only a theoretical but also an empirical contribution. Given the increasing mobility of labor markets, it is becoming more common for employees to join teams and organizations where prior colleagues work (Somaya, Williamson, and Lorinkova 2008).

In particular, this study demonstrates the importance of considering not only the current network structure when analyzing socialization, but also how newcomers' relational history may have significant effects on their performance. Sharing experience with co-workers proves to have a relevant impact on the socialization of newcomers, and my results hint at how peer co-workers may actually be more relevant than hierarchical relationships during the socialization process. Moreover, this study highlights the relevance of career stage during socialization. Indeed, basketball players seem to leverage their networks less and less as they become more experienced, showing a learning process through which they learn how to transition from organization to organization more easily. The socialization literature has rarely taken such factors into consideration, given the major focus on newcomers' that are early in their careers. However, whereas this study mainly focuses on past shared experience, future research could also consider the potential effects of other

83

types of prior social ties (such as communication, friendship, or knowledge transfer).

Contributions to the social network literature

My study also provides contributions to two different sub-streams of the network literature. The first is the literature on the reactivation of social ties (Levin et al. 2011). By focusing on a *behavioral* reactivation – in comparison to the previous studies, which focused on *cognitive ones* – I was able to explore whether the idiosyncratic social capital contain in network relations and developed in specific organizational settings can be reactivated in different ones. Such focus is particularly relevant as previous studies have primarily focused on network benefits that are structural and informational (e.g. Srivastava 2011). Reactivated ties have been interpreted similarly to the re-instantiation of network bridges (Burt 1992), without taking into consideration the potential social capital embedded within the tie. I shed light on this issue not only by showing that the reactivation of shared experience does indeed matter, but also by illustrating how it depends on characteristics of the tie itself (i.e. tie strength). I am also able to contribute to the debate on the nature of social networks – which are either considered informational mechanism or sociological process (Castilla 2005). Under this light, the positive, quadratic effect of the reactivation of multiple shared experience ties is particularly interesting. Given the fixed amount of information about a potential new organizational member, if the benefit deriving from networks was primarily informational we would expect reactivated ties to have decreasing returns. On the other hand, empirically finding *increasing* returns shows that there are positive externalities from multiple reactivated ties, as we would expect from a social enrichment effect. The addition of extra trusted contacts and multiple mentors should (and

does) indeed facilitate the integration of a new member in a group. Although such finding does not discount the informational role of networks, it also highlights that the primary role of social ties is not of conducts of information, but also carriers of socially embedded knowledge and trust.

Moreover, past analyses that have focused on the informational advantages of reactivated communication ties (e.g. Srivastava 2011) suffer from the impossibility of disentangling the effects of time from those of the network structure has limited the value of such analyses. In fact, although scholars have criticized traditional social network studies for their inability to account properly for the passage of time (Levin et al. 2011), they often ignore that time is embedded in how networks form, and hence in their cross-sectional structure. It is easy to see why: since ties that are less frequently active tend to be network bridges (Granovetter 1983), reactivated ties are generally connections that span structural holes – and hence provide informational advantages. Thus, when studying reactivated ties there is always a risk of theoretically and empirically confounding the effects of network reactivation with those emanating from social structure. This research leverages the analysis of newcomers' organizational entry to avoid such bias. A new organizational transition can be compared to an exogenous shock on an ego network's social structure – when a new member joins an organization, they needs to rebuild their personal network from its foundations. Analyzing the contribution of network reactivation to this process is particularly important, as it isolates the reactivation itself from the prior social structure (compare the transitions of A and B in Figure 1 for a graphical and intuitive illustration of this point).

85

This approach also allows me to orthogonally disentangle tie strength from tie dormancy and from other time-based effects (like employees' tenure). My large-scale statistical analysis of the effects of dormancy and tie strength provides, for the first time, support for the independent effects of dormancy and relational embeddedness. It shows that the rate of decay of shared experience seems to be independent from tie strength, in contrast to what previous scholars' findings (Levin et al. 2011); this counter intuitive finding calls for a better understanding of the process of tie decay, perhaps by examining different types of ties.

Finally, my analysis of the role of demographic similarity in contributing to the tie reactivation process provides relevant contributions to the literature on homophily and performance. Whereas homophily is taken-for-granted phenomenon by the managerial and sociological literatures, much is still to be understood as to whether homophilous ties improve individual performance. My study advances the current literature by finding, for the first time, empirical evidence for theories based on value-threat, a mechanisms that takes place among discriminated groups. Empirical evidence shows that tie reactivation has a lower effect between members of discriminated groups, and that numeric representation and sponsors' relational embeddedness play a role in determining the magnitude of the beneficial network effect. The analyses of both moderators revealed fine-grained effects. In the case of numerical representation, it appears that being represented in the higher status strata matters the most. This finding is justifiable along the lines of value-threat based mechanisms – veterans are more likely to add pressure and form expectations on the newcomer's and on the sponsor's behavior, and thus numerical representation is more

likely to play a major role in that group. Moreover, a comparative analysis of the effects of sponsor's relational embeddedness and tenure revealed the oppositional nature of these two moderators. Despite their relatively high correlation – incumbent with higher tenure are more likely to develop stronger ties with the rest of the organization – I find that sponsors' tenure (which I interpret as status in the internal hierarchy) has a negative impact on the effects of tie reactivation. The interpretation that follows is that sponsors in the discriminated group with a higher status have more to lose when helping similar newcomers, and thus are less likely to help them. At the same time, however, when they develop a sense of trust with the rest of the incumbents (signaled by a high relational embeddedness) they are able to offset the perceptions of value-threat, and thus are more willing to help out.

An important characteristic of my study is the analysis of a white population as the discriminated group. To my knowledge, the NBA is one of the rare settings in which the discriminated group does not overlap with a discriminated social minority (e.g. African-American, women, etc.). This is important as it acts as a setting in which value-threat theories can be tested independently from discrimination that became institutionalized in societal strata.

Managerial contributions

This study has also several implications for practice. By considering the relevance of reactivated social ties on new organizational members' performance, this paper offers managers a different perspective on hiring practices. Whereas generally a major emphasis is placed on human capital during hiring and staffing decisions (Huselid et al. 1997), the importance of prior social networks shows an additional, low-cost factor that can enable teams and organizations to fully take advantage of prior network structures (Reagans et al. 2004).

Change is intrinsic to organizational life, and managing employee turnover and staffing decisions is fundamental to sustaining performance in the long run. In this perspective, two of my findings are particularly important. First, reactivated ties are more relevant for younger, less-experienced workers. So when deciding how to staff a specific project-team, or evaluating a young candidate, managers should particularly pay attention to extant social networks. In contrast, my findings seem to suggest that reactivated ties may be detrimental for more experienced workers: this might be due to problems of overembeddedness (Uzzi 1997), where trust may reach levels that are too high and create a sense of comfort that might not align with the competitiveness between employees required to maximize performance. The second relevant managerial implication concerns the length of the project/task. Again, network reactivation has a greater impact early in a socialization period, and hence is more important in contexts where short-term performance is paramount, or where projects/tasks are not expected to last very long. Whereas in the long run newcomers reach approximately the same level of performance, managers should bear in mind that the strongest impact of ties reactivation occurs earlier in the process.

Limitations and conclusions

All studies have limitations, and this study is no exception. The greatest potential

88

concern lies in the generalizability of the results – using sports data analyses to make inferences about other organizational settings always calls for caution. However, I believe that such concerns are limited, given the nature of my study. Specifically, my study's focus is on the process by which newcomers learn the set of routines and social norms that characterize their new social setting. Basketball teams are good examples of organizations with strong norms and culture, but they are not particular in how these elements are embedded to their organizational structures. In other words, I believe them to be good representations of settings where idiosyncratic social norms are at play, but how they operate is not substantially different than in other, more traditional organizations - such as firms.

Another limitation of this study lies in how I consider past shared experience to generally carry a positive effect. Indeed, network scholars have recently shown that not all social ties carry such positive attributes, but can also have quite negative consequences (Labianca and Brass 2006). However, I have reasons to believe this potential bias may not be relevant enough to significantly alter the results of my study. First, the analysis of the frequency of negative ties reveals that only one social connection out of 10 has negative repercussions (Labianca and Brass 2006), and that their presence is even less likely in settings characterized by high task interdependence and network density (Labianca and Brass 2006). Moreover, I assume that positive ties tend to self-select in a high-mobility market, as negative ties tend to be broken off, either by the parties involved or by management (this is especially true in the case of sport clubs, when team performance suffers from bad player relationships). Thus, in general I assume my analysis to be robust

89

against the potential presence of negative ties, although future studies should consider the different effects of positive, neutral and negative ties on new employees' socialization and performance.

In conclusion, my analysis of the effects of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance has revealed how past social networks can deeply influence the career trajectories of high status professional, providing theoretical contributions to the socialization literature, as well as the literature on demographic similarity and social tie reactivation. Studying the dynamic nature of social networks proved to be a fruitful avenue for managerial research, and hopefully this study will be a stepping stone for future investigations aimed at clarifying how social networks form, activate and dissolve, and how such processes impact the performance of individuals in organizations.

References

- Adler, P. A., and Adler, P. 1988. Intense Loyalty in Organizations: A Case Study of College Athletics. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 33 (3) (September 1): 401–417.
- Adler, P. S., and Kwon, S. 2002. Social Capital: Prospects for a New Concept. *The Academy of Management Review* 27 (1) (January 1): 17–40.
- Allen, M. P, Panian, S.K., and Lotz, R.E. 1979. Managerial Succession and Organizational Performance: A Recalcitrant Problem Revisited. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 24 (2) (June 1): 167–180.
- Arthur, M. B., & Rousseau, D.M. (Eds.). 1996. The boundaryless career: A new employment principle for a new organizational era. New York: Oxford University Press
- Azzarito, Laura, and Louis Harrison. "White Men Can't Jump' Race, Gender and Natural Athleticism." *International Review for the Sociology of Sport* 43, no. 4 (December 1, 2008): 347–364. doi:10.1177/1012690208099871.
- Barney, J. B. 1996. The Resource-Based Theory of the Firm. *Organization Science* 7 (5) (September 1): 469–469.
- Berman, S, L., Down, J. and Hill, C.W.L. 2002. Tacit Knowledge as a Source of Competitive Advantage in the National Basketball Association. *The Academy of Management Journal* 45 (1) (February 1): 13–31.
- Bloom, M. 1999. The Performance Effects of Pay Dispersion on Individuals and Organizations. *The Academy of Management Journal* 42 (1) (February 1): 25–40. doi:10.2307/256872.
- Bruce, Toni. "Marking the Boundaries of the 'normal' in Televised Sports: The Play-by-play of Race." *Media, Culture & Society* 26, no. 6 (November 1, 2004): 861–879. doi:10.1177/0163443704047030.
- Burt, R. S. 1992. *Structural Holes: The Social Structure of Competition*. Harvard University Press.
- Burt, R. S. 1998. The gender of social capital. Rationality and Society, 10:5-47
- Burt, R. S. 2000. Decay functions. Social Networks, 22:1-28
- Burt, R. S. 2002. Bridge decay. Social Networks, 24(4) 333-363.
- Burt, Ronald S. "The Contingent Value of Social Capital." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 42, no. 2 (June 1, 1997): 339–365. doi:10.2307/2393923.
- Byrne, D. "The Attraction Paradigm." New York: AcademicPress (n.d.).
- Casciaro, Tiziana, and Miguel Sousa Lobo. "When Competence Is Irrelevant: The Role of Interpersonal Affect in Task-Related Ties." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 53, no. 4 (December 1, 2008): 655–684. doi:10.2189/asqu.53.4.655.
- Cashman, James, Fred Dansereau Jr., George Graen, and William J. Haga. "Organizational Understructure and Leadership: A Longitudinal Investigation of the Managerial Role-

making Process." *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance* 15, no. 2 (April 1976): 278–296. doi:10.1016/0030-5073(76)90042-8.

- Castilla, E. J. 2007. Dynamic analysis in the social sciences. Oxford: Elsevier, Academic Press
- Castilla, E. J. 2005. Social Networks and Employee Performance in a Call Center. *American Journal of Sociology* 110 (5) (March 1): 1243–1283.
- Chan, D., & Schmitt, N. 2000. Interindividual differences in intraindividual changes in proactivity during organizational entry: A latent growth modeling approach to understanding newcomer adaptation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 85: 190-210.
- Chatman, Jennifer A., and Francis J. Flynn. "The Influence of Demographic Heterogeneity on the Emergence and Consequences of Cooperative Norms in Work Teams." *The Academy* of Management Journal 44, no. 5 (October 1, 2001): 956–974. doi:10.2307/3069440.
- Chen, G. 2005. Newcomer adaptation in teams: Multilevel antecedents and outcomes. *Academy* of Management Journal, 48: 101–116
- Chen, G., and R.J. Klimoski. "The Impact of Expectations on Newcomer Performance in Teams as Mediated by Work Characteristics, Social Exchanges, and Empowerment." *Academy* of Management Journal 46, no. 5 (2003): 591–607.
- Coff, R. W. 1997. Human Assets and Management Dilemmas: Coping with Hazards on the Road to Resource-Based Theory. *The Academy of Management Review* 22 (2) (April 1): 374–402.
- Cohen, L. L., and J. K. Swim. "The Differential Impact of Gender Ratios on Women and Men: Tokenism, Self-confidence, and Expectations." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 21, no. 9 (1995): 876–884.
- Coleman, J. 1990. Foundations of Social Theory. Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Dubrow, Joshua Kjerulf, and Jimi Adams. "Hoop Inequalities: Race, Class and Family Structure Background and the Odds of Playing in the National Basketball Association." *International Review for the Sociology of Sport* 47, no. 1 (February 1, 2012): 43–59. doi:10.1177/1012690210384660.
- Duguid, Michelle M, Denise Lewin Loyd, and Pamela S Tolbert. "The Impact of Categorical Status, Numeric Representation, and Work Group Prestige on Preference for Demographically Similar Others: A Value Threat Approach." Organization Science (August 30, 2010). doi:10.1287/orsc.1100.0565.
- Eisenhardt, K.M., and Schoonhoven, C.B. 1990. Organizational Growth: Linking Founding Team, Strategy, Environment, and Growth Among U.S. Semiconductor Ventures, 1978-1988. Administrative Science Quarterly 35 (3) (September 1): 504–529.
- Eitzen, D. S., and Yetman, N.R. 1972. Managerial Change, Longevity, and Organizational Effectiveness. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 17 (1) (March 1): 110–116.

- Ely, Robin J. "The Effects of Organizational Demographics and Social Identity on Relationships Among Professional Women." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 39, no. 2 (June 1, 1994): 203–238. doi:10.2307/2393234.
- Espinosa, J. A., Slaughter, S.A., Kraut, R.E. and J Herbsleb, J.D. 2007. Familiarity, Complexity, and Team Performance in Geographically Distributed Software Development. *Organization Science* 18 (4) (July 1): 613–630.
- Fernandez, R.M., Castilla, E.J. and Moore, P. 2000. Social Capital at Work: Networks and Employment at a Phone Center. *American Journal of Sociology* 105 (5) (March 1): 1288– 1356.
- Fernandez, Roberto M. "Structural Bases of Leadership in Intraorganizational Networks." *Social Psychology Quarterly* 54, no. 1 (March 1, 1991): 36–53. doi:10.2307/2786787.
- Fernandez, Roberto M., and Nancy Weinberg. "Sifting and Sorting: Personal Contacts and Hiring in a Retail Bank." *American Sociological Review* 62, no. 6 (December 1, 1997): 883–902. doi:10.2307/2657345.
- Ferrin, D.L., Dirks, K.T., and Shah, P.P. 2006. Direct and Indirect Effects of Third-party Relationships on Interpersonal Trust. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 91 (4): 870–883.
- Gius, Mark, and Donn Johnson. "An Empirical Investigation of Wage Discrimination in Professional Basketball." *Applied Economics Letters* 5, no. 11 (1998): 703–705. doi:10.1080/135048598354168.
- Granovetter, M. 1983. The Strength of Weak Ties: A Network Theory Revisited. *Sociological Theory* 1 (1): 201.
- Graves, Laura M., and Gary N. Powell. "Sex Similarity, Quality of the Employment Interview and Recruiters' Evaluation of Actual Applicants." *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology* 69, no. 3 (1996): 243–261. doi:10.1111/j.2044-8325.1996.tb00613.x.
- Greene, W. 2008. Econometric analysis. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson-Prentice Hall.
- Hamilton, Barton Hughes. "Racial Discrimination and Professional Basketball Salaries in the 1990s." *Applied Economics* 29, no. 3 (1997): 287–296. doi:10.1080/000368497327065.
- Harrison, David A., Kenneth H. Price, and Myrtle P. Bell. "Beyond Relational Demography: Time and the Effects of Surface- and Deep-Level Diversity on Work Group Cohesion." *The Academy of Management Journal* 41, no. 1 (February 1, 1998): 96–107. doi:10.2307/256901.
- Higgins, M.C., and Kram, K.E. 2001. Reconceptualizing Mentoring at Work: A Developmental Network Perspective. *The Academy of Management Review* 26 (2) (April 1): 264–288.
- Hinds, P.J., and Bailey, D.E. 2003. Out of Sight, Out of Sync: Understanding Conflict in Distributed Teams. *Organization Science* 14 (6) (November 1): 615–632.
- Hollinger, J. 2005. Pro Basketball Forecast: 2005-06 Edition. Washington, DC: Brassey's.
- Hurlbert, J.S., Haines, V.A. and Beggs, J.J. 2000. Core Networks and Tie Activation: What

Kinds of Routine Networks Allocate Resources in Nonroutine Situations? *American Sociological Review* 65 (4): 598–618. doi:10.2307/2657385.

- Huselid, M. A., Jackson, S. E., and Schuler, R. S. 1997. Technical and strategic human resources management effectiveness as determinants of firm performance. *Acad. Management J.* 40(1) 171-188.
- Ibarra, Herminia. "Homophily and Differential Returns: Sex Differences in Network Structure and Access in an Advertising Firm." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 37, no. 3 (September 1, 1992): 422–447. doi:10.2307/2393451.
- Ibarra, Herminia. "Personal Networks of Women and Minorities in Management: A Conceptual Framework." *The Academy of Management Review* 18, no. 1 (January 1, 1993): 56–87. doi:10.2307/258823.
- Ibarra, Herminia. "Race, Opportunity, and Diversity of Social Circles in Managerial Networks." *The Academy of Management Journal* 38, no. 3 (June 1, 1995): 673–703. doi:10.2307/256742.
- Jablin, F.M. 1987. Organizational Entry, Assimilation, and Exit. In Handbook of Organizational Communication: An Interdisciplinary Perspective., 679–740. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Jackson, S. E, Stone, V.K, and Alvarez, E.B. 1993. Socialization Amidst Diversity: The Impact of Demographics on Work Team Oldtimers and Newcomers. *Research in Organizational Behavior* 15: 45–45.
- Johnson, Norris R., and David P. Marple. "Racial Discrimination in Professional Basketball: An Empirical Test." *Sociological Focus* 6, no. 4 (1973): 6–18. doi:10.1080/00380237.1973.10570857.
- Jones, C., Hesterly, W.S. and Borgatti, S.P. 1997. A General Theory of Network Governance: Exchange Conditions and Social Mechanisms. *The Academy of Management Review* 22 (4) (October 1): 911–945. doi:10.2307/259249.
- Jones, G.R. 1986. Socialization Tactics, Self-Efficacy, and Newcomers' Adjustments to Organizations. *The Academy of Management Journal* 29 (2) (June 1): 262–279.
- Jost, J. T. "Outgroup Favoritism and the Theory of System Justification: A Paradigm for Investigating the Effects of Socioeconomic Success on Stereotype Content." In Cognitive Social Psychology: The Princeton Symposium on the Legacy and Future of Social Cognition, 89–102, 2001.
- Kanazawa, Mark T., and Jonas P. Funk. "Racial Discrimination in Professional Basketball: Evidence from Nielsen Ratings." *Economic Inquiry* 39, no. 4 (2001): 599–608. doi:10.1093/ei/39.4.599.
- Kanter, Rosabeth Moss. "Some Effects of Proportions on Group Life: Skewed Sex Ratios and Responses to Token Women." *American Journal of Sociology* 82, no. 5 (March 1, 1977): 965–990.

- Katz, N., and Koenig, G. 2001. Sports Teams as a Model for Workplace Teams: Lessons and Liabilities [and Executive Commentary]. *The Academy of Management Executive (1993-2005)* 15 (3) (August 1): 56–69.
- Keidell, R. W. 1984. Baseball, Football, and Basketball: Models for Business. *Organizational Dynamics*. http://psycnet.apa.org.proxy.bc.edu/psycinfo/1984-16458-001.
- Keidell, R. W. 1987. Team Sports Models as a Generic Organizational Framework. *Human Relations* 40 (9): 591–612.
- Kellogg, Katherine C. "Operating Room: Relational Spaces and Microinstitutional Change in Surgery." *American Journal of Sociology* 115, no. 3 (November 1, 2009): 657–711.
- Krackhardt, D. 1992. The Strength of Strong Ties: The Importance of Philos in Organizations. *Networks and Organizations: Structure, Form, and Action* 216: 239.
- Labianca, G., and Brass, D. J. 2006. Exploring the social ledger: Negative relationships and negative asymmetryin social networks in organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, 31(3) 596-614.
- Leana, C.R., and van Buren, H.J. 1999. Organizational Social Capital and Employment Practices. *The Academy of Management Review* 24 (3) (July 1): 538–555.
- Levin, D.Z, Walter, J. and Murnighan, J.K. 2011. Dormant Ties: The Value Of Reconnecting. *Organization Science* 22 (4) (July 1): 923–939. doi:10.1287/orsc.1100.0576.
- Lincoln, James R., and Jon Miller. "Work and Friendship Ties in Organizations: A Comparative Analysis of Relation Networks." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 24, no. 2 (June 1, 1979): 181–199. doi:10.2307/2392493.
- Louis, M.R. 1980. Surprise and Sense Making: What Newcomers Experience in Entering Unfamiliar Organizational Settings. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 25 (2) (June 1): 226–251.
- Louis, M.R., Posner, B.Z., and Powell, G.N. 1983. The Availability and Helpfulness of Socialization Practices. *Personnel Psychology* 36 (4) (December 1): 857–866.
- Maoret, M., Massa, F.G. and Jones, C. 2011. Toward a Projects as Events Perspective. *Advances in Strategic Management* 28 (October 24): 427–444.
- Mariotti, F., and Delbridge, R.. 2011. Overcoming Network Overload and Redundancy in Interorganizational Networks: The Roles of Potential and Latent Ties. *Organization Science* (May 17).
- McEvily, B., Perrone, V., and Zaheer, A. 2003. Trust as an Organizing Principle. *Organization Science* 14 (1) (January 1): 91–103.
- McPherson, J. Miller, and Lynn Smith-Lovin. "Homophily in Voluntary Organizations: Status Distance and the Composition of Face-to-Face Groups." *American Sociological Review* 52, no. 3 (June 1, 1987): 370–379. doi:10.2307/2095356.
- McPherson, Miller, Lynn Smith-Lovin, and James M. Cook. "Birds of a Feather: Homophily in Social Networks." *Annual Review of Sociology* 27 (January 1, 2001): 415–444.

- Miller, V.D. and Jablin, F.M. 1991. Information Seeking During Organizational Entry: Influences, Tactics, and a Model of the Process. *The Academy of Management Review* 16 (1) (January 1): 92–120.
- Nahapiet, J., and Ghoshal, S. 1998. Social Capital, Intellectual Capital, and the Organizational Advantage. *The Academy of Management Review* 23 (2) (April 1): 242–266.
- Noe, R. A. "An Investigation of the Determinants of Successful Assigned Mentoring Relationships." *Personnel Psychology* 41, no. 3 (1988): 457–479.
- Noe, Raymond A. "Women and Mentoring: A Review and Research Agenda." *The Academy of Management Review* 13, no. 1 (January 1, 1988): 65–78. doi:10.2307/258355.
- O'Leary, M.B., and Mortensen, M. 2010. Go (Con)figure: Subgroups, Imbalance, and Isolates in Geographically Dispersed Teams. *Organization Science* 21 (1) (January 1): 115–131.
- O'Mahony, S., and Bechky, B.A. 2006. Stretchwork: Managing the Career Progression Paradox in External Labor Markets. *The Academy of Management Journal* 49 (5) (October 1): 918–941. doi:10.2307/20159809.
- Payne, G. T., Moore, C.B., Griffis, S.E., and Autry, C.W. 2011. Multilevel Challenges and Opportunities in Social Capital Research. *Journal of Management* 37 (2) (March 1): 491– 520.
- Perretti, F., and Negro, G. 2006. Filling Empty Seats: How Status and Organizational Hierarchies Affect Exploration Versus Exploitation in Team Design. Academy of Management Journal 49 (4): 759–777.
- Pescosolido, B.A. 1992. Beyond Rational Choice: The Social Dynamics of How People Seek Help. *American Journal of Sociology* 97 (4) (January 1): 1096–1138.
- Pfeffer, J., and Davis-Blake, A. 1986. Administrative Succession and Organizational Performance: How Administrator Experience Mediates the Succession Effect. *The Academy of Management Journal* 29 (1) (March 1): 72–83.
- Podolny, Joel M., and James N. Baron. "Resources and Relationships: Social Networks and Mobility in the Workplace." *American Sociological Review* 62, no. 5 (October 1, 1997): 673–693. doi:10.2307/2657354.
- Popovich, P., and Wanous, J.P. 1982. The Realistic Job Preview as a Persuasive Communication. *The Academy of Management Review* 7 (4) (October 1): 570–578.
- Price, Joseph, and Justin Wolfers. "Racial Discrimination Among NBA Referees." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 125, no. 4 (November 1, 2010): 1859–1887. doi:10.1162/qjec.2010.125.4.1859.
- Reagans, R., and McEvily, B. 2003. Network Structure and Knowledge Transfer: The Effects of Cohesion and Range. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 48 (2) (June 1): 240–267.
- Reagans, R., Argote, L., and Brooks, D. 2005. Individual Experience and Experience Working Together: Predicting Learning Rates from Knowing Who Knows What and Knowing How to Work Together. *Management Science* 51 (6) (June 1): 869–881.

- Reagans, R., Zuckerman, E., and McEvily, B.. 2004. How to make the team: Social networks vs. demography as criteria for designing effective teams. *Admin. Sci. Quart.* **49**(1) 101-133.
- Ridgeway, C. L., and H. A. Walker. "Status Structures." *Sociological Perspectives on Social Psychology* (1995): 281–310.
- Sacco, Joshua M., Christine R. Scheu, Ann Marie Ryan, and Neal Schmitt. "An Investigation of Race and Sex Similarity Effects in Interviews: A Multilevel Approach to Relational Demography." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 88, no. 5 (2003): 852–865. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.852.
- Sandra Susan Smith. "'Don't Put My Name on It': Social Capital Activation and Job-Finding Assistance Among the Black Urban Poor." *American Journal of Sociology* 111, no. 1 (July 1, 2005): 1–57.
- Simmel, G., and Wolff, K. H. 1950. The Sociology of Georg Simmel. Free Pr.
- Smith, E.B., Menon, T., and Thompson, L. 2012. Status Differences in the Cognitive Activation of Social Networks. *Organization Science* 23 (1) (January 1): 67–82.
- Soda, G., Usai, A., and Zaheer, A. 2004. Network Memory: The Influence of Past and Current Networks on Performance. *The Academy of Management Journal* 47 (6) (December 1): 893–906.
- Somaya, D., Williamson, I. O., and Lorinkova, N. 2008. Gone but Not Lost: The Different Performance Impacts of Employee Mobility Between Cooperators Versus Competitors. *Academy of Management Journal* 51 (5) (October): 936–953.
- Sparrowe, R. T., and Liden, R. C. 1997. Process and Structure in Leader-Member Exchange. *The Academy of Management Review* 22 (2) (April 1): 522–552. Srivastava, S. 2011. Social Capital Activation, Uncertainty, and Organizational Restructuring. *SSRN eLibrary* (October). http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1917421.
- Sparrowe, R. T., and Liden, R.C. 2005. Two Routes to Influence: Integrating Leader-Member Exchange and Social Network Perspectives. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 50 (4) (December 1): 505–535.
- Stauffer, Joseph M., and M. Ronald Buckley. "The Existence and Nature of Racial Bias in Supervisory Ratings." *Journal of Applied Psychology* 90, no. 3 (2005): 586–591. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.90.3.586.
- Stone, Jeff, W. Perry, and John M. Darley. "White Men Can't Jump': Evidence for the Perceptual Confirmation of Racial Stereotypes Following a Basketball Game." *Basic and Applied Social Psychology* 19, no. 3 (1997): 291–306. doi:10.1207/s15324834basp1903_2.
- Taylor, A., and Greve, H.R. 2006. Superman or the Fantastic Four? Knowledge Combination and Experience in Innovative Teams. *The Academy of Management Journal* 49 (4): 723–740.

- Thomas, David A. "Racial Dynamics in Cross-Race Developmental Relationships." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38, no. 2 (June 1, 1993): 169–194. doi:10.2307/2393410.
- Thompson, J. D. 1967. *Organizations in Action: Social Science Bases of Administrative Theory*. Transaction Pub.
- Tsui, Anne S., and Charles A. O'Reilly III. "Beyond Simple Demographic Effects: The Importance of Relational Demography in Superior-Subordinate Dyads." *The Academy of Management Journal* 32, no. 2 (June 1, 1989): 402–423. doi:10.2307/256368.
- Tsui, Anne S., Terri D. Egan, and Charles A. O'Reilly III. "Being Different: Relational Demography and Organizational Attachment." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 37, no. 4 (December 1, 1992): 549–579. doi:10.2307/2393472.
- Uzzi, B. 1997. Social structure and competition in interfirm networks: The paradox of embeddedness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 42: 35-67.
- Van Maanen, J., and Schein, E.H. 1979. Toward a Theory of Organizational Socialization. *Research In Organizational Behavior* 1 (1): 209–264.
- Wegner, D. M. 1987. Transactive Memory: A Contemporary Analysis of the Group Mind. *Theories of Group Behavior* 185: 208.
- Weick, K.E., and Roberts, K.H. 1993. Collective Mind in Organizations: Heedful Interrelating on Flight Decks. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38 (3): 357–381.
- White H.L. 1980. A heteroskedasticity-consistent covariance matrix estimator and a direct test for heteroskedasticity. *Econometrica* 48(8): 817-838.
- Wolfe, R.A., K E Weick, J M Usher, J R Terborg, L Poppo, A J Murrell, J M Dukerich, D Crown Core, K E Dickson, and J Simmons Jourdan. 2005. Sport and Organizational Studies Exploring Synergy. *Journal of Management Inquiry* 14 (2) (June 1): 182–210.
- Wright, P.M., Smart, D.L., and McMahan, G.C. 1995. Matches Between Human Resources and Strategy Among NCAA Basketball Teams. *The Academy of Management Journal* 38 (4) (August 1): 1052–1074.

Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Example of tie reactivation between newcomer and sponsor.



----- Reactivated shared experience tie

Figure 2. Expected effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' socialization trajectories



Figure 3. Example of the role of sponsors' relational embeddedness



— Shared experience tie

----- Reactivated shared experience tie

Note: Stronger ties are bolder.

Figure 4. An example of differing time-based effects on tie reactivation.

Tie A			
Tie B			
Tie C			
Tie D			
		t Tim	e
	Active tie		
	Inactive (dormant) tie		

Figure 5. Example of data structure.



Figure 6. Predicted effect of multiple tie reactivations.







Table 1. Descriptive statistics.

	Mean	S.D.	Min	Max	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Individual performance	8.43	8.19	-13.00	63.00										
2. Human capital (PER previous season)	12.48	4.29	-48.60	90.30	0.35									
3. Team size	16.87	2.44	11.00	20.00	0.03	-0.01								
4. Team performance (prior season)	0.48	0.16	0.13	0.88	-0.07	0.01	-0.17							
5. # of games played in season (cumulative)	30.78	22.18	1.00	102.00	0.17	0.13	-0.11	0.03						
6. Time (within season)	44.65	25.07	1.00	108.00	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.71					
7. Age	26.15	4.38	17.21	39.65	0.01	0.07	-0.01	0.19	0.00	0.02				
8. Experience in the NBA	4.09	4.16	0.00	20.00	0.07	0.15	0.00	0.18	0.02	0.03	0.92			
9. Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$	0.04	0.21	0.00	1.00	-0.02	0.03	-0.04	0.13	0.29	0.37	0.08	0.08		
10. Tie reactivation (dichotomous)	0.19	0.39	0.00	1.00	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.11	0.00	0.01	0.39	0.40	0.03	
11. Tie reactivation (continous)	0.25	0.60	0.00	5.00	0.01	0.01	-0.01	0.12	0.00	0.01	0.37	0.37	0.03	0.88
Table 2. Regression analysis of the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

	Model 2A	2B	2C	2D	2 E	2F	2G
Human capital (PER previous season)	.367***	.368***	.344***	.343***	.343***	.344***	.344***
	(-11.28)	(-11.31)	(-10.95)	(-10.92)	(-10.93)	(-10.92)	(-10.95)
# of games played in season (cumulative)	.055***	.055***	.055***	.055***	.056***	.053***	.055***
	(-15.54)	(-15.54)	(-15.94)	(-15.82)	(-16.09)	(-13.96)	(-15.83)
Time (within season)	018***	018***	019***	017***	019***	015***	017***
	(-6.608)	(-6.608)	(-6.880)	(-5.879)	(-6.935)	(-5.038)	(-5.945)
Team size	.199***	.2***	.205***	.205***	.205***	.205***	.204***
	(-7.178)	(-7.186)	(-7.716)	(-7.692)	(-7.711)	(-7.685)	(-7.684)
Team performance (prior season)	-3 .285***	-3 .301***	-3 .253***	-3 .249***	-3 .25***	-3 .251***	-3 .252***
	(-7.743)	(-7.774)	(-7.834)	(-7.818)	(-7.830)	(-7.818)	(-7.826)
Age	2	209	4**	404**	403**	403**	406**
	(-1.191)	(-1.232)	(-2.320)	(-2.341)	(-2.337)	(-2.331)	(-2.343)
Experience in the NBA	.038	.042	.304*	.308*	.307*	.306*	.309*
	(-0.216)	(-0.241)	(-1.69)	(-1.707)	(-1.708)	(-1.694)	(-1.715)
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$	-2 .46***	-2 .46***	-2 .461***	-2 .428***	-2 .449***	-2 .428***	-2 .652***
	(-20.14)	(-20.14)	(-20.59)	(-20.12)	(-20.33)	(-20.12)	(-19.06)
H1a: Tie reactivation (dichotomous)		.111	3 .43***	3 .435***	3 .43***	3 .438***	
		(-0.618)	(-10.61)	(-10.59)	(-10.57)	(-10.62)	
H1a: Tie reactivation (dichotomous) x Experience in the NBA			47***	47***	471***	469***	474***
			(-11.31)	(-11.29)	(-11.29)	(-11.27)	(-11.39)
H1b: Tie reactivation (dichotomous) x Time (within season)				011***		016**	
				(-3.724)		(-2.561)	
H1b: Tie reactivation (dichotomous) x # of games played in season					006*	.007	
					(-1.689)	(-0.99)	
H1b: Tie reactivation (first half of season)							3 .751***
							(-11.02)
H1b: Tie reactivation (second half of season)							3 .143***
							(-9.705)
H1b: Tie reactivation (playoffs)							3 .824***
							(-9.248)
Player-level fixed effects	Included						
Constant	7.230*	7.421*	11.58**	11.70**	11.64**	11.67**	11.73**
Observations (player-year)	236.505	236.505	236.505	236.505	236.505	236.505	236.505
Number of players	1.943	1.943	1.943	1.943	1.943	1.943	1.943
BIC	1 588 659	1 588 666	1 587 134	1 587 093	1 587 133	1 587 097	1 587 087
Difference in BIC with previous nested model		7	-1.532	-41	-1	-36	-47
Enterence in 1916 with previous nested model	-	r	1,552	-41	-1	-50	47

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

 $^{\#}$ p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 3. Regression analysis of the moderating role of tie strength and dormancy on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

	Baseline	3A	3B	3C
Human capital (PER previous season)	.344***	.343***	.343***	.343***
	(-10.95)	(-10.96)	(-10.93)	(-10.94)
# of games played in season (cumulative)	.055***	.055***	.055***	.055***
	(-15.94)	(-15.93)	(-15.9)	(-15.88)
Time (within season)	019***	019***	019***	019***
	(-6.880)	(-6.847)	(-6.874)	(-6.837)
Team size	.205***	.203***	.205***	.204***
	(-7.716)	(-7.663)	(-7.721)	(-7.68)
Team performance (prior season)	-3 .253***	-3 .253***	-3 .241***	-3 .244***
	(-7.834)	(-7.853)	(-7.789)	(-7.818)
Age	4**	395*	396*	393*
	(-2.320)	(-2.293)	(-2.297)	(-2.277)
Experience in the NBA	.304*	.298*	.3*	.296*
	(-1.69)	(-1.661)	(-1.67)	(-1.647)
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$	-2 .461***	-2 .459***	-2 .461***	-2 .459***
	(-20.59)	(-20.63)	(-20.59)	(-20.63)
The reactivation (dichotomous)	3 .43***			
	(-10.61)	10.0		10 (1)
The reactivation (dichotomous) x Experience in the NBA	47***	493***	462***	486***
	(-11.31)	(-11.97)	(-10.45)	(-11.03)
H2: The reactivation (high the strength)		3.942***		
		(-10.94)		
H2: The reactivation (low the strength)		3.288***		
II ('T'		(-9.9/3)	2 0/2444	
H4a: The feactivation (nigh tie domancy)			3.203***	
II (as The repetimention (low the domagness)			(-/.442) 2 401***	
114a. The reactivation (low the dominancy)			(10.59)	
H4b: The reactivation (high strength high dormance) (1)			(-10.36)	3 816***
1140. The reactivation (high strength - high domancy) (1)				(7 576)
H(h) The reactivation (high strength low dormanow) (2)				3 000***
114b. The reactivation (high strength - low domancy) (2)				(10.41)
H4b: The reactivation (low strength - high dormancy) (3)				3 131***
1140. The reactivation (low strength - high dominancy) (5)				(-6.753)
H4b: Tie reactivation (low strength - low dormancy) (4)				3 298***
The featuration (low siteligen now domainly) (1)				(-9.638)
Player-level fixed effects	Included	Included	Included	Included
Constant	11.58**	11.52**	11.50**	11.45**
Observations (player-year)	236,505	236,505	236,505	236,505
Number of players	1,943	1,943	1,943	1,943
BIC	1,587,134	1,587,080	1,587,143	1,587,103
Difference in BIC with previous nested model	-	-54	9	-31

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

[#] p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 4. Regression analysis of the moderating role of sponsors' relational embeddedness on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

	Baseline	4 A	4 B	4C	4D	4E
Human capital (PER previous season)	.344***	.344***	.345***	.343***	.344***	.344***
	(-10.95)	(-11)	(-11.01)	(-10.95)	(-10.94)	(-11)
# of games played in season (cumulative)	.055***	.055***	.055***	.055***	.055***	.055***
	(-15.94)	-15.94	(-15.95)	(-15.95)	(-15.92)	(-15.9)
Time (within season)	019***	019***	019***	019***	019***	019***
	(-6.880)	(-6.841)	(-6.845)	(-6.885)	(-6.849)	(-6.821)
Team size	.205***	.208***	.206***	.204***	.206***	.208***
	(-7.716)	-7.81	(-7.727)	(-7.651)	(-7.75)	(-7.809)
Team performance (prior season)	-3 .253***	-3 .319***	-3 .326***	-3 .246***	-3 .265***	-3 .315***
	(-7.834)	(-7.938)	(-7.949)	(-7.805)	(-7.869)	(-7.950)
Age	4**	402**	4**	399**	406**	403**
	(-2.320)	(-2.328)	(-2.321)	(-2.317)	(-2.350)	(-2.327)
Experience in the NBA	.304*	.307*	.305*	.303*	.31*	.30/*
$\mathbf{X} = 1 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0$	(-1.69)	-1.703	(-1.695)	(-1.686)	(-1.72)	(-1./02)
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$	-2.461***	-2.46***	-2.46.5***	-2.461***	-2.46***	-2 .459***
The manufaction (disk stormous)	(-20.59)	(-20.59)	(-20.64)	(-20.59)	(-20.60)	(-20.59)
The reactivation (dichotomous)	5.45					
The respective time (dish storm one) a Francisco se in the NIPA	(-10.01)	402***	401***	4(7***	474***	402***
The feactivation (dichotomous) x Experience in the NDA	(11.21)	40.3	(11 40)	(11.02)	(11.22)	40.5
The reactivation (high sponsors' embeddedness)	(-11.51)	3 822***	(-11.49)	(-11.02)	(-11.52)	(-11.40)
The feactivation (high sponsors embeddedness)		(10.03)				
The reactivation (low sponsors' embeddedness)		3 281***				
The reactivation (low sponsors embeddedness)		(-10.07)				
Tie reactivation (high sponsors' embeddedness - core only)		(-10.07)	3 811***			
			(-9.977)			
Tie reactivation (low sponsors' embeddedness - core only)			3.273***			
			(-10.03)			
Tie reactivation (high sponsors' embeddedness - periphery only)			()	3 .339***		
				(-8.931)		
Tie reactivation (low sponsors' embeddedness - periphery only)				3 .461***		
				(-10.6)		
Tie reactivation (high sponsors' tenure)					3 .673***	
					(-9.095)	
Tie reactivation (low sponsors' tenure)					3 .37***	
					(-10.47)	
(1) Tie reactivation (sponsors' high tenure - high embeddedness)						3 .843***
						(-8.755)
(2) Tie reactivation (sponsors' high tenure - low embeddedness)						3 .428***
						(-6.734)
(3) Tie reactivation (sponsors' low tenure - high embeddedness)						3 .81***
						(-9.35)
(4) Tie reactivation (sponsors' low tenure - low embeddedness)						3 .264***
						(-9.996)
Player-level fixed effects	Included	Included	Included	Included	Included	Included
Constant	11.58**	11.59**	11.59**	11.58**	11.71**	11.60**
Observations (player-year)	236,505	236,505	236,505	236,505	236,505	236,505
Number of players	1,943	1,943	1,943	1,943	1,943	1,943
Difference in PIC with baseline model	1,58/,134	1,587,093	1,587,099	1,58/,144	1,58/,133	1,58/,123
Difference in DIC with Daseline model	-	-41	-35	10	-1	-11

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

 $^{\#}$ p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 5. Regression analysis of the effect of multiple tie reactivations on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

	5A	5B	5C	5D
Human capital (PER previous season)	.35***	.35***	.35***	.349***
	(-11.02)	(-11.07)	(-11.03)	(-10.99)
# of games played in season (cumulative)	.055***	.055***	.055***	.055***
	(-15.56)	(-15.67)	(-15.54)	(-15.48)
Time (within season)	018***	019***	018***	018***
	(-6.635)	(-6.710)	(-6.627)	(-6.585)
Team size	.204***	.204***	.204***	.204***
	(-7.53)	(-7.528)	(-7.566)	(-7.517)
Team performance (prior season)	-3 .277***	-3 .294***	-3 .283***	-3 .274***
	(-7.811)	(-7.859)	(-7.823)	(-7.801)
Age	365*	357*	366*	369*
	(-2.108)	(-2.073)	(-2.114)	(-2.124)
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$	-2 .457***	-2 .458***	-2 .46***	-2 .44***
	(-20.39)	(-20.46)	(-20.42)	(-20.10)
Experience in the NBA	.181	.179	.181	.184
	(-1.01)	(-1.002)	(-1.013)	(-1.026)
Tie reactivation (continous)	1 .982***	1 .702***		1 .982***
	(-8.127)	(-6.436)		(-8.112)
Tie reactivation (continous) - squared		.223*		
		(-2.101)		
Tie reactivation (continous) x Experience in the NBA	244***	259***	243***	243***
	(-8.480)	(-8.774)	(-8.456)	(-8.438)
Tie reactivation (sponsor is coach)			1 .622***	
			(-4.28)	
Tie reactivation (sponsor is player)			2 .045***	
			(-8.265)	
Tie reactivation (continous) x Time (within season)				004*
				(-1.982)
Player-level fixed effects	Included	Included	Included	Included
Constant	11.33**	11.07**	10.85**	11.42**
Observations (player-year)	236,505	236,505	236,505	236,505
Number of players	1,943	1,943	1,943	1,943
BIC	1,587,742	1,587,689	1,587,739	1,587,737
Difference in BIC with baseline model	-	-53	-3	-5

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

[#] p < 0.1, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 6. Regression analysis of the moderating role of demographic similarity on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

	Baseline	6A	6B	6C
Human capital (PER previous season)	.344***	.344***	.344***	.343***
	(-10.95)	(-10.94)	-10.94	(-10.91)
# of games played in season (cumulative)	.055***	.055***	.055***	.055***
	(-15.94)	(-15.86)	-15.93	(-15.96)
Time (within season)	019***	019***	019***	019***
	(-6.880)	(-6.826)	(-6.876)	(-6.884)
Team size	.205***	.205***	.205***	.205***
	(-7.716)	(-7.723)	-7.716	(-7.727)
Team performance (prior season)	-3 .253***	-3 .222***	-3 .251***	-3 .248***
A VA Z	(-7.834)	(-7.769)	(-7.824)	(-7.829)
Age	4**	399**	399**	398**
•	(-2.320)	(-2.312)	(-2.312)	(-2.311)
Experience in the NBA	.304*	.301*	.303*	.302*
	(-1.69)	-1.673	-1.682	-1.68
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$	-2 .461***	-2 .457***	-2 .461***	-2 .46***
	(-20.59)	(-20.56)	(-20.61)	(-20.60)
Tie reactivation (dichotomous) x Experience in the NBA	47***			
	(-11.31)			
Tie reactivation (dichotomous)	3 .43***			
	(-10.61)			
Tie reactivation (white newcomer)		4 .112***		
		(-9.661)		
Tie reactivation (black newcomer)		3 .214***		
		(-9.489)		
Tie reactivation (white sponsor(s))			3 .393***	
			-8.618	
Tie reactivation (black sponsor(s))			3 .453***	
			-10.51	
Tie reactivation (mixed sponsors)			3 .339***	
			-7.175	
H5: Tie reactivation (homophilous tie)				3 .325***
				(-9.909)
H5: Tie reactivation (heterophilous tie)				3 .643***
				(-9.902)
Tie reactivation (mixed tie)				3 .327***
				(-7.16)
Player-level fixed effects	Included	Included	Included	Included
Constant	11.58**	11.54**	11.56**	11.54**
Observations (player-year)	236,505	236,505	236,505	236,505
Number of players	1,943	1,943	1,943	1,943
BIC	1,587,134	1,587,090	1,587,158	1,587,145
Difference in BIC with baseline model	-	-44	24	11

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

[#] p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 7. Regression analysis of the moderating role of numeric representation of the discriminated group on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

					Baseline	7A	7B	7C
Human capital (PER pre	vious season)				.344***	.344***	.344***	.341***
					(-10.95)	(10.92)	(10.87)	(11.01)
# of games played in sea	son (cumulati	ve)			.055***	.055***	.055***	.054***
					(-15.94)	(15.86)	(15.85)	(15.59)
Time (within season)					019***	019***	019***	018***
Team size					(-0.000) 205***	(-0.627) 206***	(-0.602) 182***	(-0.467) 201***
Team size					(-7.716)	(7.721)	(6 449)	(7.655)
Team performance (prio	r season)				-3 253***	-3 219***	-3 292***	-2 201***
ream periormanee (prio	, season)				(-7.834)	(-7.763)	(-7.913)	(-4.681)
Age					4**	397*	379*	41**
0.					(-2.320)	(-2.305)	(-2.231)	(-2.375)
Experience in the NBA					.304*	.3*	.286#	.311*
1					(-1.69)	(1.666)	(1.620)	(1.726)
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$)				-2 .461***	-2 .459***	-2 .458***	-2 .449***
					(-20.59)	(-20.59)	(-20.57)	(-20.48)
Number of white players							.138***	
							(3.291)	
Number of white veteral	15							243***
								(-3.219)
Number of veterans								005
								(-0.0949)
Tie reactivation (dichoto	omous) x Expe	rience in the	NB.	A	47***	459***	458***	46***
					(-11.31)	(-10.94)	(-10.82)	(-10.93)
Tie reactivation (dichoto	omous)				3 .43***			
	Ъ.Т.	6			(-10.61)			
	Newcomer	Sponsor(s)						
H6: Tie reactivation:	White	White				3 .802***	3 .8**	2 .074*
						(5.765)	(2.318)	(2.107)
H6: Tie reactivation:	White	Black				4 .257***	4 .297***	4 .281***
						(8.987)	(9.064)	(9.062)
Tie reactivation:	White	Mixed				3 .847***	3 .794***	3 .829***
						(4.854)	(4.840)	(4.849)
Tie reactivation:	Black	White				3 .108***	3 .112***	3 .202***
	D1	D1 1				(6.207)	(6.212)	(6.320)
Tie reactivation:	Black	Black				3.238*** (7.701)	5.14***	3.249***
Tio an atimation.	Dla al-	Minud				(/./01) 2 012***	(/.3/3) 2. 245***	(/.//5) 2 220***
The reactivation:	ыаск	Mixed				3.213*** (0.221)	2 .245*** (0 205)	3 .239***
U7. The reactivation:	White	White		# of white players		(9.551)	(9.595)	(9.420)
117. The reactivation.	winte	winte	л	# of white players			.00.5	
H7. Tie reactivation:	White	White	v	# of white veterans			(-0.000)	954*
The reactivation.	winte	white	А	If of white veteralis				(1.659)
								(11000)
Player-level fixed effects					Included	Included	Included	Included
Constant					11.58**	11.51**	11.75***	11.88***
Observations (player-yea	ar)				236,505	236,505	236,505	236,505
Number of players	,				1,943	1,943	1,943	1,943
BIC					1,587,134	1,587,003	1,586,927	1,586,800
Difference in BIC with b	aseline model				-	-131	-76	-203

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

 $^{\#}$ p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 8. Regression analysis of the moderating role of discriminated sponsors' relational embeddedness on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

	ð.			Baseline	8A
Human capital (PER pr	evious season)			.344***	.345***
				(-10.95)	(-11)
# of games played in se	ason (cumulati	ve)		.055***	.055***
				(-15.94)	(-15.9)
Time (within season)				019***	018***
				(-6.880)	(-6.806)
Team size				.205***	.211***
				(-7.716)	(-7.914)
Team performance (prio	or season)			-3 .253***	-3 .269***
				(-7.834)	(-7.854)
Age				4**	397*
				(-2.320)	(-2.292)
Experience in the NBA				.304*	.299*
T 1 66 (1 -	、 、			(-1.69)	(-1.657)
Is playoff game (1 = yes	5)			-2.461***	-2 .462***
Tie mantivation (diabot	omous) y Eva	nionao in the NE	2.4	(-20.59)	(-20.05)
The reactivation (dicnot	omous) x Expe	rience in the INF	DA	4/****	4/4***
Tio reactivation (dichot	(amous)			(-11.51)	(-11.20)
The reactivation (diction	omousj			(10.61)	
	Newcomer	Sponsor(s)	Sponsors' embeddedness	(-10.01)	
H8: Tie reactivation:	White	White	High		4 .808***
			0		(-5.589)
H8: Tie reactivation:	White	White	Low		2 .762***
					(-3.349)
Tie reactivation:	White	Black	High		4 .593***
					(-4.733)
Tie reactivation:	White	Black	Low		4 .286***
					(-8.933)
Tie reactivation:	Black	White	High		3 .404***
					(-6.772)
Tie reactivation:	Black	White	Low		3 .261***
					(-6.468)
Tie reactivation:	Black	Black	High		3 .902***
					(-8.637)
Tie reactivation:	Black	Black	Low		2 .998***
					(-8.633)
Tie reactivation:	Black	Mixed	Not split (average)		3 .213***
		26.1			(-6.395)
The reactivation:	White	Mixed	Not split (average)		3 .924***
					(-4.959)
Player-level fixed effect	s			Included	Included
Constant				11.58**	11.40**
Observations (player-ye	ear)			236,505	236,505
Number of players				1,943	1,943
BIC				1,587,134	1,587,098
Difference in BIC with	baseline model			-	-36

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

[#] p < 0.1, * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 9. Regression analysis of the moderating role of discriminated sponsors' tenure on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

				Baseline	9A
Human capital (PER pr	evious season)			.344***	.344***
				(-10.95)	(-10.87)
# of games played in se	ason (cumulati	ve)		.055***	.055***
				(-15.94)	(-15.78)
Time (within season)				019***	018***
				(-6.880)	(-6.760)
Team size				.205***	.206***
				(-7.716)	(-7.735)
Team performance (pric	or season)			-3 .253***	-3 .242***
				(-7.834)	(-7.825)
Age				4**	394*
				(-2.320)	(-2.284)
Experience in the NBA				.304*	.296*
T 1 00 11				(-1.69)	(-1.647)
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$	5)			-2 .461***	-2 .46***
) E			(-20.59)	(-20.62)
Lie reactivation (dichot	omous) x Expe	rience in the NI	3A	4/***	463***
				(-11.31)	(-10.94)
Lie reactivation (dichot	omous)			3 .43***	
	D.T.	St. ()	C. I.	(-10.61)	
	INewcomer	Sponsor(s)	Sponsors' tenure		
Tie reactivation:	White	White	High		.984*
					(-1.685)
Tie reactivation:	White	White	Low		4 .003***
					(-5.982)
Tie reactivation:	White	Black	High		3 .656***
					(-4.352)
Tie reactivation:	White	Black	Low		4 .406***
					(-8.593)
Tie reactivation:	Black	White	High		3 .238***
					(-4.855)
Tie reactivation:	Black	White	Low		3 .282***
					(-7.548)
Tie reactivation:	Black	Black	High		3 .737***
					(-7.543)
Tie reactivation:	Black	Black	Low		3 .072***
					(-8.851)
Tie reactivation:	Black	Mixed	Not split (average)		3 .126***
		25 1			(-6.238)
Tie reactivation:	White	Mixed	Not split (average)		3 .882***
					(-4.873)
D1 1 1 C 1 CC					
Player-level fixed effects	s			Included	Included
Observations (als				11.58**	11.4.5**
Number of allows	ear)			236,505	230,505
Number of players				1,943	1,943
Difference in DIC 111	L 1:			1,587,134	1,387,139
Difference in BIC with	baseline model			-	5

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

" p < 0.1, " p < 0.05, "" p < 0.01, "" p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.

Table 10. Regression analysis of the moderating role of discriminated sponsors' relational embeddedness and tenure on the effect of tie reactivation on newcomers' performance (NBA efficiency)

			Baseline	10A
Human capital (PER previous season)			.344***	.343***
			(-10.95)	(10.95)
# of games played in season (cumulative)			.055***	.055***
			(-15.94)	(15.96)
Time (within season)			019***	019***
			(-6.880)	(-6.902)
Team size			.205***	.207***
			(-7.716)	(7.764)
Team performance (prior season)			-3 .253***	-3 .254***
			(-7.834)	(-7.814)
Age			4**	396*
			(-2.320)	(-2.294)
Experience in the NBA			.304*	.3*
			(-1.69)	(1.663)
Is playoff game $(1 = yes)$			-2 .461***	-2 .46***
			(-20.59)	(-20.59)
Tie reactivation (dichotomous) x Experience in	the NBA		47***	469***
			(-11.31)	(-11.24)
Tie reactivation (dichotomous)			3 .43***	
			(-10.61)	
Tie reactivation (non white-to-white)				3 .413***
				(10.46)
	Sponsors' tenure	Sponsors' embeddedness		
(1) Tie reactivation: White-to-white	High	High		2 .779***
				(4.812)
(2) Tie reactivation: White-to-white	High	Low		.583
				(1.208)
(3) Tie reactivation: White-to-white	Low	High		4 .648***
				(5.307)
(4) Tie reactivation: White-to-white	Low	Low		2 .805***
				(3.251)
Player-level fixed effects			Included	Included
Constant			11.58**	11.48**
Observations (player-year)			236,505	236,505
Number of players			1,943	1,943
BIC			1,587,134	1,587,147
Difference in BIC with baseline model			-	13

^a Unstandardized coefficients are reported; robust t-scores are in parentheses.

[#] p < 0.1, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; one-tailed tests for hypothesized effects.